ALL TOWNED BY MEBU

Characterisation and Partial Purification of DNA Methylase from Pea (*Pisum sativum*)

Claire Elizabeth Houlston

Thesis submitted to the University of Glasgow for the degree of Master of Science

Department of Biochemistry University of Glasgow

> © C. E. Houlston, May 1993



i

ProQuest Number: 13834075

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13834075

Published by ProQuest LLC (2019). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346

Acknowledgements

Firstly I would like to thank Dr R.L.P.Adams for his supervision of this work and for his consistently helpful and friendly advice. I would also like to thank members of the Department of Biochemistry, and in particular past and present members of C30 for making my time in Glasgow so enjoyable. I would especially like to thank David Bourn for all his support and encouragement.

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the SERC for financial support.

Abbreviations

The abbreviations used in this thesis are in agreement with the recommendations of the editors of the Biochemical Journal ((1990) *Biochem. J.* **265**, 1-21) with the following additions.

BSA	bo	vine serum albumin
DEAE cellulose	diethyla	aminoethyl cellulose
dH ₂ O		distilled H ₂ O
DTT		dithiothreitol
EDTA	ethylenedian	nine-tetra-acetic acid
EGTA eth	yleneglycol-bis-N	I,N'-tetra-acetic acid
kDa		kiloDalton
MOPS (3-[1	N-morpholino]pro	pane-sulphonic acid
PEG		polyethyleneglycol
PMSF	phenyl methy	l sulphonyl fluoride
SAM	S-ade	nosyl-L-methionine
SDS	sodii	um dodecyl sulphate
TCA		trichloroacetic acid
TEMED	NNN'N'-tetramet	hylethylenediamine
TRIS	tris(hydroxym	ethyl)aminomethane
Tween 20	polyethylene sc	orbitan monolaureate

Contents

Title	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Abbreviations	iiii
Contents	iv
List of figures	viii
List of tables	x
Summary	xi

Chapter	1: Introduction	Page
1.1	Occurrence and distribution of modified bases in DNA	1
1.2	Maintenance and <i>de novo</i> methylation	2
1.3	Mechanism of DNA methyltransferase action	4
1.4	DNA methyltransferases	6
1.5	Functions of DNA methylation	7
1.5.1	DNA methylation and gene expression	7
1.5.2	Mechanism of gene regulation by DNA methylation	10
1.5.3	DNA methylation and development	12
1.5.3.1	Demethylation	16
1.5.3.2	Mechanism of demethylation	17
1.5.4	DNA methylation and cancer	18
1.5.5	Additional functions of DNA methylation	19
1.5.5.1	DNA replication	19
1.5.5.2	Mismatch repair	20
1.5.5.3	Recombination	21
1.5.5.4	Effect on foreign DNA in plants	21
1.6	Summary	22
1.7	Project aims	22

Chapter 2: Materials and Methods

2.1	Materials	24
2.1.1	Fine chemicals	24
2.1.2	Buffer M ⁺	25
2.1.3	SDS stop solution	25
2.1.4	SDS mix	26
2.1.5	Phenol mix	26
2.1.6	Bradford's reagent	26
2.1.7	SDS-PAGE buffers	26
2.1.8	SDS-PAGE electrode buffer	26
2.1.9	30% Acrylamide stock	27
2.1.10	SDS-PAGE sample buffer	27
2.1.11	Agarose gel sample buffer	27
2.1.12	TBE buffer	27
2.1.13	Oligonucleotide annealing buffer	27
2.1.14	Phenol / chloroform	28
2.1.15	Phosphate buffered saline	28
2.1.16	10X Imidazole buffer	29
2.1.17	10X T4 DNA ligase buffer	29
2.1.18	10X S1 nuclease buffer	29
2.1.19	Nitrocellulose transfer buffer	29
2.1.20	Blotting buffer (TBS-T)	29
2.1.21	Stripping buffer	30
2.1.22	2X SDS sample buffer	30
2.2	Methods	30
2.2.1	Growing pea seedlings	30
2.2.2	Preparation of pea nuclei	30
2.2.3	Extraction of pea nuclei	31
2.2.3.1	Extract E1	31

 2.2.3.2 Extract E2 2.2.4 Assay for protein concentration 2.2.5 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis 	 31 32 32 33 33
2.2.4 Assay for protein concentration2.2.5 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	32323333
2.2.5 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	32 33 33
	33 33
2.2.6 Agarose gel electrophoresis	33
2.2.7 Silver staining of protein gels	
2.2.8 Coomassie brilliant blue R staining of protein gels	34
2.2.9 Extraction of native pea DNA	34
2.2.10 DNA methylase assay	35
2.2.11 Oligonucleotide synthesis and annealing	36
2.2.12 Ligation of oligonucleotides	36
2.2.13 Purification of nuclear extracts, E1 and E2	37
2.2.13.1 Elution of methylase from Q Sepharose	37
2.2.13.2 Heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose	38
2.2.13.3 Modification of method 2.2.13.2.	39
2.2.13.4 Gel filtration and Q Sepharose	39
2.2.14 Transfer of proteins to nitrocellulose: Western Blotting	40
2.2.15 Enhanced Chemiluminesence (ECL)	40
Chapter 3 : Characterization of pea DNA methylase	
3.1 Sequence specificity	41
3.1.1 Comparison of methylase activity with different DNA substrates	42
3.1.2 Methylation of oligonucleotides derived from the SV40	
early promoter	44
3.2 Affinity of enzyme for target sites	47
3.3 DNA / Enzyme binding	47
3.3.1 Effect of 0.1 M NaCl on enzymic activity	47
3.3.2 Effect of ligation of oligonucleotide substrates on enzyme activity	51
3.3.3 Effect of competition with hemi- or unmethylated DNA on levels of	
methylation	54

3.4	Effect of temperature on enzyme activity	56
3.5	Age of pea shoots on harvesting and DNA methylase activity	58
Chapter	4: Partial Purification of DNA Methylase from Pea	
4.1	Introduction	60
4.2	DNA methylase activity of extract E2	60
4.2.1	Effect of micrococcal nuclease treatment on E2 activity	60
4.2.2	Extraction of pea nuclei with 0.2 M NaCl and micrococcal nuclea	se 62
4.2.3	Contamination of E2 extract with native pea DNA	64
4.3	Elution of methylase from Q Sepharose	64
4.4	Purification of extract E1	67
4.4.1	Gel filtration followed by treatment with Q Sepharose	67
4.4.2	Elution of DNA methylase from a heparin Sepharose column	67
4.4.3	Standardisation of heparin Sepharose column	72
4.4.4	Elution from a Q Sepharose column following treatment with	
	heparin Sepharose	72
4.4.5	Purification of extract E1 by the modified method 2.2.13.3	74
4.4.5.1	Enhanced Chemiluminesence (ECL)	81
4.5	Purification of Extract E1 in the presence of benzamidine	81
4.5.1	Introduction of 1mM benzamidine before Q Sepharose column	83
4.5.2	Introduction of 1 mM benzamidine at the stage of E1 preparation	87
4.5.3	Possible inhibition of DNA methylase by benzamidine	90
4.6	Purification of E2	90
4.6.1	Purification of a mixture of extracts E1 and E2	91
4.6.2	Purification of extract E2 alone	95
4.7	Summary and conclusions	97
Chapter	5: Discussion	98
Chapter	6: References	103

List of Fig	gures	Page
Figure 1.1	Inheritance of DNA methylation patterns	3
Figure 1.2	Methylation of cytosine residues	5
Figure 3.1	Comparison of methylase activity with different DNA	
	substrates	43
Figure 3.2	Methylase activity with SV40 derived oligonucleotides	46
Figure 3.3	DNA concentration curves	48
Figure 3.4	Effect of 0.1 M NaCl on methylase activity	50
Figure 3.5	Effect of ligation on CpNpG oligonucleotide DNA	52
Figure 3.6	Comparison of methylase activity on ligation of substrate DNA	53
Figure 3.7	Effect of competition with hemi- or unmethylated DNA on	
	levels of methylation	55
Figure 3.8	Effect of temperature on enzyme activity	57
Figure 3.9	Age of pea shoots and DNA methylase activity	59
Figure 4.1	Digestion of nuclei with an increasing concentration of	
	micrococcal nuclease	63
Figure 4.2	Methylase activity of extracts E1 and E2 +/- substrate DNA	65
Figure 4.3	Elution of DNA methylase from Q Sepharose with increasing	
	NaCl concentrations	66
Figure 4.4	Elution from a Q Sepharose column following gel filtration on a	
	Superose 6 column	68
Figure 4.5	Elution of DNA methylase from a heparin Sepharose column	
	with a 0.2–0.7 M NaCl gradient	70
Figure 4.6	SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a heparin Sepharose	
	column	71
Figure 4.7	Standardisation of the procedure for elution of DNA methylase	
	from a heparin Sepharose column	73
Figure 4.8	Elution of DNA methylase from a Q Sepharose column following	
	treatment with heparin Sepharose	75

Figure 4.9	Elution of DNA methylase from a Q Sepharose column prepared	l
	by modified method 2.2.13.3	76
Figure 4.10	SDS-PAGE gel (1.5 mm thick) of fractions eluted from	
	a Q Sepharose column prepared by modified method 2.2.13.3.	79
Figure 4.11	SDS-PAGE gel (2 mm thick) of fractions eluted from a	
	Q Sepharose column prepared by modified method 2.2.13.3.	80
Figure 4.12	Autoradiograph of samples probed with an antibody	
	to a 55 k Da wheat methylase protein	82
Figure 4.13	Elution of DNA methylase from Q Sepharose in the	
	presence of 1 mM benzamidine	84
Figure 4.14	SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a Q Sepharose	a.
	column in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine	85
Figure 4.15	SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a Q Sepharose	
	column in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine	86
Figure 4.16	Elution from Q Sepharose of Extract E1 prepared in the	
	presence of 1 mM benzamidine	88
Figure 4.17	SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from Q Sepharose in the	
	presence of 1 mM benzamidine following preparation of	
	Extract E1 in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine	89
Figure 4.18	Elution of a mixture of extracts E1 and E2 from a Q Sepharose	
	column	92
Figure 4.19	SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a Q Sepharose	
	column to which a mixture of extracts E1 and E2 were applied	93
Figure 4.20	Elution of Extract E2 from a Q Sepharose column	96

List of Ta	bles	Page
Table 3.1	SV40 oligonucleotide sequences	45
Table 3.2	V max and Km values of methylase enzyme with different	
	DNA substrates	49
Table 4.1	Effect of micrococcal nuclease treatment on E2 DNA methylase	
	activity	61
Table 4.2	Specific Activity and % yield of samples that have undergone	
	the procedure described in section 4.4.5	78
Table 4.3	Specific Activity and % yield of samples that have undergone	
	the procedure described in section 4.6.1.	94

Summary

Prior to the start of this project, pea DNA methylase had been partially purified from pea shoot tips by gel filtration. Only one species of the enzyme was identified (Yesufu et al., 1991). In plants both CpG and CpNpG sites (where N is any base) are methylated and there is evidence that methylation of these sites might serve different functions (Hershkovitz et al., 1990). It is therefore possible that there might be more than one DNA methylase in plants. Three DNA methyltransferases are known to exist in *E. coli* (Marinus, 1987), and although only one methylase gene has been identified in mice, possible post-translational modification has resulted in three closely related forms of the enzyme (Bestor et al., 1988). Most methyltransferases recognize a single DNA sequence but in prokaryotes *Flavobacterium okeanokoites* displays different strand specificities while the *Bacillus subtillis* methyltransferase shows multiple sequence specificity (Gunthert and Trautner, 1984; Looney et al., 1989; Sugisaki et al., 1989). One of the aims of this project was to refine the purification procedure so that separate enzyme species if any could be identified.

Crude enzyme extract, E1, was shown to methylate synthetic DNA oligonucleotides representing CpG and CpNpG target sequences. A preference for hemimethylated over unmethylated substrate DNA was observed for both di– and trinucleotide target DNAs. DNA methylase was observed to have the highest affinity for hemimethylated CpNpG target DNA following competition studies and ligation of CpNpG DNA. The DNA–enzyme complex formed with this CpNpG substrate was observed to be salt resistant while DNA–enzyme complexes formed with the other substrates dissociated after varying intervals. This suggests that the enzyme forms a stable complex with hemimethylated trinucleotide DNA and is consistent with the idea that once bound to this substrate DNA it remains bound as suggested by competition studies and ligation of target DNA.

xi

Partial purification of pea DNA methylase(s) was achieved by affinity chromatography involving elution from heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose. Enzymic activity was assayed with hemimethylated trinucleotide and unmethylated dinucleotide synthetic oligonucleotides. The peak of enzyme activity was observed in different fractions when assayed with the two substrates. SDS–PAGE revealed bands of high molecular weight in all active fractions which were found to react with an antibody to a component of the wheat methylase enzyme. The large number of bands was considered to be due to degradation of the enzyme through proteolysis. The addition of further protease inhibitors such as benzamidine led to the loss of enzymic activity.

No distinct bands were visible on SDS–PAGE gels between fractions exhibiting different levels of methylation with different substrates. This is consistent with there being only one pea DNA methylase enzyme. The differences observed in relative activities with different substrates during purification might be due to different extents of proteolysis or to changes in conformation of the enzyme. Such changes might also explain the relative difference in activity with hemi– and unmethylated substrate DNA following heat treatment of extract E1 and purified samples and during early growth of pea shoots.

1. Occurrence installing "Order of

rychryddiae Henrik - an 17 Mar yw 1947 a Milled Bash Nilann (mai'r fai a Mar a ar

2., 1979 Tand to types all and a solution of the solution of all and the types all and the solution of the sol

miter) of his firm (ST and Milligh

CHAPTER 1 Introduction

mainfoldening (Newson Construction of Child), he mainfoldening (Newson Construction experiment) where Newson every trace Circle and Cir 2000 Shafe proposed on the Circle and Cir 2000 Shafe same the school and Circle and Cir 2000 Shafe same the school and Circle and Circle and Sylfand (Newson experiment) (Circle and Circle and Sylfand (Newson experiment)) (Circle and Circle and Shafe Circle and Shafe Circle and Circ

1.1 Occurrence and distribution of modified bases in DNA

The occurrence of methylated bases in DNA was first demonstrated almost 40 years ago (Hotchkiss, 1948; Wyatt, 1951; Dunn and Smith, 1958). The modified bases N⁶-methyladenine, N⁴-methylcytosine and 5-methylcytosine have been detected in prokaryotes, in certain green algae (Haltman *et al.*, 1978; Burton *et al.*, 1979) and in types of bacteriophage (Doerfler, 1983). The DNA of nematodes (Simpson *et al.*, 1986), Drosophila (Pollack *et al.*, 1984) and cellular slime moulds (Smith and Ratner, 1991) appear to contain no detectable methylated cytosine residues, while most species of fungi either lack 5-methylcytosine or have very low contents of this base (Magill and Magill 1989).

In vertebrates, 5-methylcytosine appears to be the major modified nucleotide with 3–6% of cytosines methylated in the dinucleotide sequence CpG. Methylated cytosine residues are also found in higher plant DNA in addition to N6methyladenine (Vanyushin et al., 1988). In higher plants there is additional methylation of cytosine residues contained in the trinucleotide sequence CpNpG, where N represents any base (Gruenbaum et al., 1981). Belanger and Hepburn (1990) have proposed that the CpG and CpNpG methylation systems in plants evolved at the same time. In plant nuclear DNA up to 30% of all cytosines are methylated (Wagner and Capesius, 1981). Plant cells contain a unique class of DNA containing organelles, the plastids which include chloroplasts. Methylated DNA has been detected in maize mesophyll chloroplasts, tomato chromoplasts and sycamore amyloplasts (Kobayashi et al., 1990) as well as in chloroplasts of the green algae Chlamydomonas reinhardtii (Sagar and Lane, 1972) and more recently in pea where about 0.5% of cytosine residues are methylated in chloroplast DNA (Ohta et al., 1991). In both vertebrates and plants there is a deficiency in the number of CpG sequences as compared to the number expected from a random distribution (Adams et al., 1987; Boudraa and Perrin, 1987). The incidence of the CpG dinucleotide in mammalian DNA is 1/5 th of that expected in bulk DNA and between 60-90% of

these CpGs are methylated (Bird, 1986). However, there are regions of 0.5–2 kb within the genome where CpG residues are abundant. These regions are termed CpG or *Hpa* II tiny fragments (HTF) islands and are associated with house-keeping genes. They are unmethylated in all tissues so far tested including the germ line. Only on the inactive X-chromosome have these regions been found to be methylated. Clusters of unmethylated CpG and CpNpG sites resembling CpG islands have been identified in maize, tobacco, wheat (Antequera and Bird, 1988) and tomato (Messeguer *et al.*, 1991). In maize some of these islands are associated with genes (Antequera and Bird, 1988).

1.2 Maintenance and de novo methylation

Patterns of DNA methylation are inherited and maintained over many cell generations (Wigler *et al.*, 1981) by a process known as maintenance methylation. This is achieved by the action of the enzyme DNA methyltransferase which uses Sadenosyl methionine as methyl donor. The semi-conservative nature of DNA replication results in the parental strand remaining methylated while the newly synthesized daughter strand is unmethylated (Figure 1.1). In an early post replicative step (Burdon and Adams, 1969) this hemimethylated DNA is recognized by DNA methyltransferase which, using the parental strand as a template, symmetrically imposes methyl groups on the newly synthesized strand. This mechanism was first proposed by Holliday and Pugh (1975) and Riggs (1975).

De novo methylation involves the transfer of methyl groups to previously unmethylated DNA and in doing so generates new patterns of methylation. During embryogenesis there is active *de novo* methylation which is thought to be important in the control of development and will be discussed further in section 1.5.3.



1.3 Mechanism of DNA methyltransferase action

igure 1.2 Methtal

It was proposed by Santi *et al.* (1983) that the mechanism of DNA methyltransferase catalysis involves the formation of a covalent enzyme–DNA complex. Such a complex has been detected in the prokaryotic Hha I methyltransferase (Osterman *et al.*, 1988) and captured in human methyltransferase using 5–fluorodeoxycytidine as a suicide substrate (Smith *et al.*, 1992).

The mechanism for human methyltransferase action described by Smith *et al.* (1992) is as follows: a sulphydryl group of a cysteine residue at the active site of the enzyme acts as the catalytic nucleophile (as proposed by Wu and Santi, 1987) and saturates the cytosine C5–C6 double bond. S–adenosyl methionine donates a methyl group to C5 of cytosine to form S–adenosylhomocysteine and the enzyme–DNA intermediate. Elimination of the hydrogen atom at C5 and the enzyme at C6 results in the regeneration of the C5–C6 double bond to produce 5–methylcytosine (Figure 1.2). However, with the suicide substrate, the covalent complex between the duplex DNA and methyltransferase is maintained as the 5–fluorine cannot be lost by elimination. The ability of the DNA methyltransferase to accurately preserve genetic information was found to be comparable to the fidelity observed by Loeb and Kunkel (1982) for mammalian polymerases in copying DNA sequence.

Figure 1.2 Methylation of cytosine residues

(adapted from Smith et al., 1992)

CH₃ Enz

CH3

Enz





5-methylcytosine

andigetrand errors in source in that it mich OpOrtes, was to if it was publicand Scaling research in the first source out he achieved

All evitosine multiture

Trusters and press and the

DNA (Grueniments also

No. of the second s

1.4 DNA methyltransferases

Mammalian methyltransferases have been purified from various sources including rat liver (Simon *et al.*, 1978), human placenta (Pfeifer *et al.*, 1983), Hela cells (Roy and Weissbach, 1975) and mouse Krebs II ascites tumour cells (Turnbull and Adams, 1976). They are large, single unit enzymes of 100–200 kDa in size. This range in size may be due to proteolysis which has been shown to occur readily both *in vivo* and *in vitro* in mouse ascites tumour cells (Adams *et al.*, 1986).

Very few methyltransferases have been characterized from plants. The green alga *Chlamydomonas reinhardii* (Sano and Sager, 1980; Sano *et al.*, 1981), wheat (Theiss *et al.*, 1987) and rice (Giordano *et al.*, 1991) methyltransferases have all been purified.

The *Ch. reinhardii*, wheat and rice methyltransferases have been estimated to have a relative molecular mass of 50–58 kDa; the wheat and green alga enzymes being accompanied by smaller protein components of 35 and 22 kDa respectively. The wheat methyltransferase exhibits *de novo* and maintenance methylation while the rice enzyme is only specific for hemimethylated DNA.

A cytosine specific methyltransferase of 135 kDa has been purified from the mealybug (*Planococcus lilacinus*). It differs from all other eukaryotic methyltransferases studied in that it methylates cytosine residues in CpA as well as CpG sequences (Devajyothi and Brahmachari, 1992). Methylation of cytosine residues in CpA would not be inherited as CpA is not symmetrical with the opposing strand. Selker (1990) has proposed an alternative model for inheritance of methylated states in fungi where repeat point mutations result in the methylation of all cytosine residues.

Eukaryotic DNA methyltransferases preferentially methylate hemimethylated DNA (Gruenbaum *et al.*, 1982) but bacterial cytosine specific methyltransferases do not discriminate between unmethylated and hemimethylated DNA (Kelleher *et al.*, 1991). In certain bacteria and bacterial viruses, DNA methyltransferases occur as

components of restriction modification (R–M) systems. Such systems comprise pairs of opposing intracellular activities: a restriction endonuclease and a DNA methyltransferase which interact with specific recognition sequences of nucleotides in DNA. R–M systems are classified according to differences in structure, cofactor requirements and recognition sites of these enzymes (reviewed by Wilson and Murray, 1991). However, methyltransferases can also occur alone in bacteria. *E. coli* possesses two unaccompanied methyltransferases, DNA–adenine methyltransferase (Dam) and DNA–cytosine methyltransferase (Dcm) (Marinus, 1987).

Partial proteolysis of the methyltransferase from mouse Krebs II ascites tumour cells has been found to result in an increase in *de novo* activity (Adams *et al.*, 1983). This led to the proposal that mammalian DNA methyltransferases contain two domains, one containing the active site and the other an allosteric site which regulates methylation of unmethylated DNA (Adams *et al.*, 1986). There is now further supporting evidence for this model. Mammalian methyltransferases have been found to contain a 500 amino acid C-terminal domain that is closely related to bacterial 5-methylcytosine methyltransferases (Bestor *et al.*, 1988). This domain is linked to a large N-terminal domain which contains a Zn binding site. Proteolytic cleavage between the N- and C- terminal domains stimulates *de novo* methylation without changing the rate of maintenance methylation indicating that the N-terminal domain acts to inhibit *de novo* methylation (Bestor, 1992).

1.5 Functions of DNA methylation

1.5.1 DNA methylation and gene expression

One of the major functions of DNA methylation in eukaryotes is postulated to be regulation of gene expression. In general, for tissue specific genes there is a correlation between expression and undermethylation. The first indication of this

relationship came from studying methylation patterns using the isoschizomer restriction enzymes, *Msp* I and *Hpa* II in a technique devised by Waalwijk and Flavell (1978). These enzymes cleave the sequence CCGG but in the case of *Hpa* II, only if the internal cytosine is not methylated. Comparison of the fragments produced by digestion with these enzymes allows the proportion of cytosines methylated in the CpG dinucleotide to be obtained. However, the recognition sequence CCGG represents only about 6% of all the CpG dinucleotides present in the genome and therefore important sites may not be detected by this method. This limitation has been overcome by the development of an alternative method involving genomic sequencing used in combination with the polymerase chain reaction (Saluz and Jost, 1989).

The association between gene activity and reduced methylation has been found in several genes including the chicken ovalbumin gene (Mandel and Chambon, 1979) and the mouse metallothionein I gene (Compère and Palmiter, 1981). The globin genes have also been extensively studied. In the rabbit (Waalwijk and Flavell, 1978), chicken (McGhee and Ginder, 1979) and in humans globin genes have been clearly shown to be unmethylated in the tissue of expression but heavily modified in DNA from other tissues (van der Ploeg and Flavell, 1980). In plants there is also an association between hypomethylation and gene expression in a number of genes including storage protein genes in maize (Spena et al., 1983; Bianchi and Viotta, 1988), photosynthetic genes in non green plant cells (Ngernprasirtsiri et al., 1989) and rRNA genes in pea (Watson et al., 1987). Riggs and Chrispeels (1990) have demonstrated using restriction digestion that in the cotyledons of Phaseolus vulgaris the expression of seed storage proteins encoded by genes lec 1 and lec 2 is correlated with hypomethylation of sites upstream of the lec 1 gene. DNA methylation has also been correlated to transposon activity in tobacco (Martin et al., 1989) and maize (Chandler and Walbot, 1986; Schwartz and Dennis, 1986). However, there are significant exceptions to hypomethylation being associated with expression. The chicken α 2 (I) collagen gene (Mckeon et al., 1982) and rat albumin gene (Kunnath

and Locker, 1983) have been shown to be actively transcribed in both heavily methylated and unmethylated states, while the α fetoprotein gene of rats is transcribed only in foetal liver, where it is heavily methylated, and not in adult liver where it is less methylated (Kunnath and Locker, 1983).

Whether gene inactivation in plants requires methylation of cytosines at both CpNpG and CpG sequences remains to be clarified. Preliminary results from Hershkovitz *et al.* (1990) suggest that only methylation at CpG sites is necessary for inactivation and that methylation of CpNpG sequences may not be involved in gene silencing.

Further evidence indicating that DNA methylation inhibits gene expression has come from two different experimental approaches. One approach is gene transfer which involves methylating DNA *in vitro* and introducing it into cells. Using this method Yisraeli *et al.* (1988) showed that endogenous α globin genes in human fibroblasts are methylated and not expressed. However, unmethylated copies of the same gene transfected into the same cell type are transcribed.

In plants *in vitro* hemimethylation has been shown to block transient gene expression after transfection into protoplasts (Weber and Graessmann, 1989; Hershkovitz *et al.*, 1989). Linn *et al.* (1990) introduced the maize A1 gene under the control of the CaMV 35S RNA promoter into the white flowering mutant *Petunia hybrida*. Different phenotypes of either white, variegated or red flowers were observed among individual transgenic plants. The CaMV 35S promoter has two CCGG methylation sites and using restriction digestion Linn *et al.* demonstrated that the A1 gene is expressed if CCGG site 1 on the promoter is modified but is turned off when both sites 1 and 2 are methylated. They also demonstrated that integration of multiple copies of the chimeric gene resulted in methylation of the promoter sequences. Similar results have been observed by Matzke *et al.*(1989; Matzke and Matzke, 1991) who demonstrated that inactivation of T–DNA–1 genes by methylation of the promoter sequences occurred only in plants containing an additional T–DNA gene.

The second approach involves the use of the potent demethylating agent, 5– azacytidine. This compound is a cytosine analogue and once incorporated into DNA appears to bind irreversibly to DNA methylase in a manner similar to 5– flurodeoxycytidine (section 1.3), thereby inhibiting DNA methylation. Following exposure of chicken AEV cells to 5–azacytidine, a previously inactive virus gene is found to be active and gene sequences to have undergone demethylation (Groudine *et al.*, 1981). In tobacco plant cells silent T–DNA genes were demethylated by 5– azacytidine treatment and found to be active (Klaas *et al.*, 1989). Recently Bochardt *et al.* (1992) have demonstrated that a β–glucuronidase (GUS) gene in cultured transgenic tobacco plant cells is silenced by DNA methylation. Treatment with 5– azacytidine resulted in demethylation of the genome and reactivation of the GUS gene. As in the findings of Weber *et al.* (1990) the pattern of methylation was maintained and inherited during meiosis and regeneration.

Bird's laboratory (Mechanics of 1999) 1999 1.5.2 <u>Mechanism of gene regulation by DNA methylation</u>

It is generally assumed that DNA methylation affects gene transcription by altering protein–DNA interactions. This could occur directly if essential transcription factors were unable to bind to DNA if their binding sites contain a methylated CpG or indirectly due to changes in chromatin conformation inhibiting the access of transcription factors. A number of transcription factors that are sensitive to methylation have been discovered providing support for a direct effect (Kovesdi *et al.*, 1987; Watt and Molloy, 1988; Iguchi-Ariga and Schaffner, 1989). However, not all transcription factors have recognition sites containing the dinucleotide CpG or are sensitive to methylation at the recognition site. The SpI transcription factor will bind and activate even when the recognition site is modified (Holler *et al.*, 1988).

Razin and Cedar (1977) first indicated that chromatin structure could be related to the level of DNA methylation and that methylated DNA was organized into a specific chromatin structure which is resistant to nucleases. Direct evidence that methylation could cause DNA to adopt a nuclease resistant structure was provided by Keshet *et al.*(1986).

Antequera *et al.* (1989) observed that in bulk chromatin cleavage of methylated sites with *Msp* I (an enzyme that cleaves CCGG irrespective of methylation status) is blocked, possibly by methyl binding proteins. They observed that digestion gave some short oligonucleosomes that arose from CpG islands, whereas most of the chromatin remained intact. Based on this observation, a method for isolating CpG island chromatin was developed by Tazi and Bird (1990), who from analysis of the protein content of DNA derived from CpG islands concluded that CpG islands differed from bulk chromatin in that they are deficient in histone H1 and histones H3 and H4 are highly acetylated. Conversely, 80% of methylated cytosines have been located in nucleosomes containing histone H1 (Ball *et al.*, 1983).

Two methyl binding proteins, MeCP1 and MeCP2 have been identified in Bird's laboratory (Meehan *et al.*, 1989; 1992). MeCP1 has been shown to require at least 12 methylated sites for efficient binding and to repress transcription especially when bound to promoters containing a high density of methylated CpG sites (Boyes and Bird, 1992). In comparison, MeCP2 is able to bind a single methylated CpG and has been found to be more abundant in the nucleus than MeCP1 (Lewis *et al.*, 1992; Meehan *et al.*, 1992). It has been suggested that MeCP2 may play a role in the genome-wide protection of methylated CpG sites against nucleases and in the formation of specific chromatin structures. However, a role in transcriptional repression cannot be ruled out.

Several DNA binding proteins that recognize the CRE (cAMP response element) have been identified in the nuclear extracts of pea seeds, wheat germ, cauliflower and soybean leaves as well as in a broad bean cDNA clone (Inamdar *et al.*, 1991; Ehrlich *et al.*, 1992). Binding of these proteins *in vitro* is inhibited by cytosine methylation of CRE. Whether these proteins respond to changes in DNA methylation in gene regulatory regions *in vivo* is still to be determined.

Kobayashi *et al.* (1990) have suggested that the transcriptional silencing of tomato plastid genes is due to methylation of DNA in promoter regions suppressing transcriptional initiation. However, there is evidence that transcriptional regulation plays a very limited role in plastid differentiation and that gene expression is mostly controlled by the post-transcriptional processing and/or stability of constitutively synthesized plastid transcripts (Gruissem, 1989).

1.5.3 DNA methylation and development

It has been proposed that DNA methylation is an importantepigeneticmechanism involved in the developmental program (reviewed by Holliday, 1987; Cedar and Razin, 1990). Most of the research into the role of DNA methylation in development has concentrated on vertebrates, especially the mouse embryo, and as a result little is known about developmental control in plants.

Monk *et al.* (1987) used restriction digestion with *Msp* I and *Hpa* II to compare genome wide methylation in germ cells and in early mouse development. They observed that oocyte DNA is undermethylated compared to sperm DNA. DNA methylation levels in the eight cell embryo were found to be the average of the maternal and paternal genomes. Further embryo development is characterized at the blastocyst stage by overall demethylation followed by *de novo* methylation around the time of implantation and X–chromosome inactivation. This *de novo* methylation appears to occur independently in embryonic and extra-embryonic linages and not at all in the germ line (Monk, 1990).

As mentioned above, *de novo* methylation occurs around the time of X– chromosome inactivation. This occurs in female mammals and involves the transcriptional silencing of one X–chromosome. This inactive state is permanently maintained in somatic cells. It has been proposed that DNA methylation plays a role in this inactivation process (Riggs, 1975; Holliday and Pugh, 1975). Several

studies have confirmed that inactivation of housekeeping genes on the Xchromosome is correlated with hypermethylation. Examples of genes showing these correlations are those encoding hypoxanthine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT) and phosphoglycerate kinase (PGK) (reviewed by Monk, 1990).

Pfeifer *et al.* (1990) using PCR-aided genomic sequencing demonstrated that 120 CpG residues in the CpG island on the mouse Pgk-1 gene were methylated on the inactive X-chromosome while they were totally unmodified on the active Xchromosome. However, DNA methylation does not appear to be the initiator of Xchromosome inactivation. Lock *et al.* (1987) have demonstrated that *de novo* methylation of the X-linked <u>hprt</u> gene occurred after the completion of the inactivation process. This has led to the suggestion that DNA methylation of the Xchromosome is a secondary event which acts to maintain inactivation. This is supported by evidence from studies using 5-azacytidine. Mohandas *et al.* (1981) demonstrated that genes on the inactive X-chromosome can be reactivated following treatment with 5-azacytidine.

During development, functional differences on parental chromosomes are conferred by genomic imprinting. This may prevent either the male or female genome becoming totipotent by itself so that both germ lines are required for normal development (reviewed by Surani *et al.*, 1990). It has been suggested that genomic imprinting is mediated by differential DNA methylation of the maternal and paternal genomes (Ridley *et al.*, 1988). Swain *et al.* (1987) have demonstrated in the offspring of transgenic mice that a functional IgG/myc construct was active in heart muscle, but only when inherited from the father. The transgene derived from the mother was found to be fully methylated in all cell types. Similar results have been obtained from studies of other gene sequences in transgenic mice (Reik *et al.*, 1987; Sapienza *et al.*, 1987).

Although there is widespread *de novo* methylation during development, CpG islands appear to remain unmodified. Kolsto *et al.* (1986) demonstrated that the *Thy–1* gene contains a CpG island that is hypomethylated in all tissues during the

development of transgenic mice. Szyf *et al.* (1990) transfected embryonic stem (ES) cells (a totipotent cell line isolated from mouse blastocytes with known *de novo* methylation activity) with either a control construct or a construct containing a 214 base pair region from the *Thy–1* gene promoter sequence. The *Thy–1* CpG island and flanking sequences were found to be protected from *de novo* methylation whereas the control plasmid was methylated.

However, it appears that CpG islands undergo *de novo* methylation in cells in culture. A number of CpG island containing genes, such as thymidine kinase (Wise and Harris, 1988), metallothionein (Compere and Palmiter, 1981) and human α globin (Antequera *et al.*, 1989) appear to become inactive and methylated in culture.

It has been suggested that during the establishment of a cell line there is a progressive process of *de novo* methylation resulting in the emergence of an immortal line. This has been demonstrated by Jones *et al.* (1990) who, using restriction digests and ligation mediated PCR, examined the methylation state of the *Myo D1* CpG island in adult mouse tissues, mouse embryo cells in culture and the immortal fibroblastic cell line 10 T1/2. This gene is required for differentiation and growth control and has the potential to induce mitotic death. The CpG island was found to be unmethylated in all mouse tissues tested, unmethylated during the initial culture period but methylated in the immortal cell line. It has been proposed that this system selects for cells in which the CpG islands of non essential genes or of genes whose expression could result in cell death in culture have undergone fortuitous *de novo* methylation and have been inactivated. Further evidence for this type of process has come from studies by Antequera *et al.* (1990). They observed that CpG islands of many non-essential genes are highly methylated in tissue culture cells.

Szyf (1991) has proposed a model to explain the spreading of new methylation patterns by *de novo* methylation. It is speculated that nuclear factors bind to methylated DNA sites or centres of methylation (CM). These factors target the DNA methylase to methylate adjacent sites to the CM which in turn act as centres of methylation resulting in the spreading of *de novo* methylation.

It has been suggested that the process of cell differentiation in higher plants differs greatly from that known for mammals. Cell differentiation continues throughout the life of the plant and does lead to the appearance of highly specialized organs and tissues (reviewed by Goldberg *et al.*, 1989; Fedoroff, 1989; An example of this would be Sussex, 1989). the aleurone layers of cereal grains which are specialized in the synthesis of secretory proteins and are found in the endosperm (Tomaszewski *et al.*, 1991). These differences between plant and animal development could indicate differences in the mechanisms of developmental control.

Palmgren *et al.* (1991) have shown in *Daucus carota* that there is no correlation between the age or the differentiated stage of a tissue and its level of methylation. However, they suggested that the large differences in the level of methylation between tissues indicated that there is a considerable change in the methylation pattern during development.

However, there is evidence that developmental changes are not related to changes in DNA methylation. Tomaszewski *et al.* (1991) have demonstrated that a 5 kb segment is deleted from the DNA of terminally differentiated wheat endosperm cells compared to wheat embryo DNA. They have proposed that this deletion occurs during cell differentiation in the developing wheat grain and results in gene rearrangement. Recently however, Tomas *et al.* (1992) have demonstrated using restriction digestion that the decrease in protein synthesis observed during leaf growth and maturation in barley (Vera *et al.*, 1990) is not caused by rearrangement, loss or gain of plastid DNA or by changes in DNA methylation.

It has been proposed that DNA methylation may play a role in fruit ripening in higher plants (Kobayashi *et al.*, 1990). This process involves differentiation of chloroplasts into non-photosynthetic chromoplasts and is related to a decrease in expression of several plastid genes required for photosynthesis. Kobayashi *et al.* (1990), using restriction digestion, demonstrated that tomato chromoplast DNA contained 5-methylcytosine and this was correlated with transcriptional silencing of plastid genes. However, Marano and Carrillo (1991) have found that DNA

methylation is not involved in the process of ripening in tomato fruits. They suggest that this discrepancy may reflect genetic differences in the cultivars used.

1.5.3.1 Demethylation

The *de novo* methylation observed in the early mammalian embryo must be balanced by demethylation of DNA during early embryo development to produce the regions of undermethylation found in the genome.

Yisraeli *et al.* (1986) transfected *in vitro* methylated muscle specific actin gene constructs into fibroblasts and L8 myoblasts by DNA mediated gene transfer. L8 myoblasts are a cell line used as a model system for studying the activation and structure of muscle specific genes. Those genes inserted into this cell line underwent demethylation at unique CpG sites which was correlated with gene activation. No demethylation was observed in fibroblasts. Similar results have been obtained for the rat insulin gene in an insulinoma cell line and for immunoglobin κ chains in mouse lymphocytes (Frank *et al.*, 1990).

These studies suggest that some differentiated cell types retain the ability to recognise and demethylate genes, presumably in a manner similar to that which occurs during normal development *in vivo*.

Bianchi and Viotti (1988) have demonstrated in maize using restriction digestion that a set of storage protein genes coding for zeins and glutins are undermethylated in endosperm DNA. These sequences were found to be heavily methylated in mature pollen cells and in all sporophytic tissues investigated suggesting that the storage protein genes undergo demethylation in early endosperm development. Recently, Sørenson (1992) has demonstrated that expression of hordein genes in the developing barley endosperm is accompanied by hypomethylation.

There is evidence to suggest that a mechanism exists to demethylate CpG islands. Frank *et al.* (1991) introduced a methylated hamster <u>aprt</u> gene into mouse

oocytes and analysed the methylation status of the gene in the transgenic mice. The 5' CpG island region of the gene was found to be demethylated whereas the 3' end of the gene remained modified, the pattern of methylation being essentially identical to that of the endogenous hamster gene. They also demonstrated that this demethylation event was restricted to embryonic cells as the <u>aprt</u> gene remained methylated when transfected into fibroblasts. Demethylation of CpG islands may be involved in the reactivation of the X chromosome following *de novo* methylation in the germline.

1.5.3.2 Mechanism of demethylation

It has been assumed that demethylation *in vivo* takes place via a passive mechanism involving the failure to methylate newly replicated DNA. This is a slow process and for double stranded demethylation would require two cell divisions and occur in only 50% of cells (Razin and Riggs, 1980).

Taylor and Jones (1979) demonstrated that passive methylation takes place following treatment of cells with 5–azacytidine but there is increasing evidence that demethylation occurs via an active mechanism *in vivo* which is rapid and does not require DNA replication.

Razin *et al.* (1985) observed that mouse erythroleukemia cells undergo genomewide demethylation in response to treatment by hexamethylene bisacetamide, a chemical responsible for inducing differentiation in these cells. This demethylation occurs at times in the cell cycle when DNA is not undergoing replication. Similar rapid demethylation has been observed in δ -crystallin (Sullivan and Grainger, 1986), vitellogenin genes (Saluz *et al.*, 1986) and in the Epstein-Barr virus in Burkitt's lymphoma cells (Szyf *et al.*, 1985).

Paroush *et al.* (1991), following transfection of the α actin gene into L8 myoblasts, observed demethylation to occur on integrated plasmid molecules derived

from bacteria. These carried a methylated adenine at all GATC sites and, by using restriction enzymes, demethylation was shown to occur without the molecules undergoing replication.

It has been postulated that the biochemical mechanism of demethylation occurs through an enzyme system which replaces methylcytosine with cytosine without breaking the phosphdiester backbone of the DNA (Razin *et al.*, 1986). However, there is evidence of demethylation occuring via a very short patch (vsp) excision repair like mechanism which replaces methylcytosine with cytosine (Adams, 1990; Hughes *et al.*, 1989).

1.5.4 DNA methylation and cancer

5-methylcytosine can potentially deaminate to thymidine resulting in T.G mismatchs causing C.G to T.A transition mutations. It has been proposed that this deamination is responsible for the observed 4–5 fold depletion of CpG sites in the genome while CpG islands are present in DNA because they are never methylated in the germline. A 5-methylcytosine deamination repair system has been detected in vertebrate cells (Brown and Jiricny, 1987). This system is thought to work through a 200 kDa protein which binds to T.G mismatches. The aberrant thymidine monophosphate is excised and the gap filled to generate a CpG pair (Wiebauer and Jiricny, 1989). However, this system is not error free and it has been suggested that in the human germline 30–40% of all point mutations can be accounted for by CpG methylation (Cooper and Youssoufian, 1988; Barker *et al.*, 1984). It has been demonstrated that the most common mutations found in the factor IX gene in haemophilia patients were transitions particularly at the CpG nucleotide (Koeberl *et al.*, 1990).

It has been proposed that these spontaneous mutations arise as methylation of target CpG sites in the germline increases the mutational frequency. Recently it has

been calculated that methylation of a CpG increases the possibility of a transition occurring at the cytosine by a factor of 12 (Sved and Bird, 1990). Since the paternal and maternal germlines are differentially methylated it is probable that a high percentage of spontaneous mutations arise from the more heavily methylated paternal germline with the maternal germline playing a relatively minor role (Driscoll and Migeon, 1990; Jones and Buckley, 1990).

5-methylcytosine has also been found to induce mutations in the *p53* tumour suppressor gene which has been found to be altered in approximately half of all human tumours. In colon cancer there are two hot spots for mutation. These mutations represent C to G or G to A transitions at CpG sites which are shown to be methylated in somatic cells (Rideout *et al.*, 1990). Point mutations in the *p53* gene in human tumours occur in different patterns in different tumour types and may be the result of both 5-methylcytosine induced mutations and the direct action of environmental carcinogens (reviewed in Jones *et al.*, 1992).

1.5.5 Additional functions of DNA methylation

As well as its role in gene expression, DNA methylation has been speculated to function in a variety of other roles. These other roles have mainly been observed in prokaryotes rather in eukaryotes and some have not been studied in plant systems.

1.5.5.1 DNA replication

Although there is little evidence that DNA methylation plays a role in control of replication in eukaryotes, DNA methylation has been demonstrated to play a role in the initiation of replication in prokaryotes such as *E.coli* and for plasmid P1. The origin of replication in these systems contains multiple copies of the sequence GATC, the recognition site for DNA adenine methylase. It has been demonstrated that the absence of this enzyme disturbs the timing of replication (Bakker and Smith,

1989), suggesting that methylation is important for regulation of origin function (Campbell and Kleckner, 1990; Boye and Løbner-Olesen, 1990).

affects the initiation of replication in *E. Coli.* Barras and Marinus,

(1989) proposed that either an initiation protein recognises fully methylated GATC sites or methylation reduces the stability of the duplex, thereby allowing unwinding to occur. However, Ogden *et al.* (1988) proposed that the hemimethylated GATC sites bind to a membrane protein involved in chromosome separation. Landoulsi *et al.* (1990) demonstrated that this membrane fraction inhibits the initiation of DNA synthesis at the origin of replication (*ori* C) on hemimethylated DNA templates *in vitro*. This is consistent with the findings of Russell and Zinder (1987) that replication cannot initiate from a hemimethylated *ori* C.

Descript the presence of microstok maybridge

1.5.5.2 Mismatch repair

When a normal but incorrect base is introduced into DNA at replication it is usually removed by a proof reading mechanism before the next nucleotide is added. However, if this mechanism fails it results in a mismatch.

Mismatch repair systems are present in both prokaryotes and eukaryotes and use the lack of methylation on the newly synthesized (incorrect) daughter strand to determine which strand requires repair.

Mismatch mutations due to deamination of methylcytosine are frequent both in prokaryotes (Coulondre *et al.*, 1978) and eukaryotes (Barker *et al.*, 1984) and are believed to be one of the reasons why the vertebrate genome is deficient in the CpG dinucleotide (Bird *et al.*, 1979; Adams and Eason, 1984).

In plants, while there is a deficiency in CpG sites there is no such deficiency in the CpNpG trinucleotide (Hepburn *et al.*, 1987). This has led to the suggestion that either DNA methylation in plants and vertebrates is subject to different correction constraints or that the CpG and CpNpG methylation systems in plants are themselves totally independent functions with different efficiencies of transition correction.

1.5.5.3 Recombination

It has been speculated that DNA methylation has a role to play in the evolution and stability of chromosome structure by preventing recombination events between highly repetitive sequences. These sequences are more highly methylated than other genomic fractions. As discussed in section 1.5.4, 5–methylcytosine is unstable and readily deaminates resulting in a GC to AT mutation.

Despite the presence of mismatch repair systems discussed in section 1.5.5.2, Kricker *et al.* (1992) have proposed that in mammals repeated sequences experience a high frequency of transition mutations at sites of cytosine methylation. These mutations are thought to be sufficient in reducing the degree of similarity between sequences by the few percent required to prevent recombination.

Recently, Hsieh and Lieber (1992) have proposed that CpG methylation specifies a chromatin structure that, upon DNA replication, is resistant to eukaryotic site-specific recombination.

1.5.5.4 Effect on foreign DNA in plants

Rogers and Rogers (1992) have proposed that DNA methylation may play a role in the protection of plant genomes from deletions induced by the insertion of foreign DNA. They introduced plasmid DNA carrying a reporter gene into barley cells. A high transformation efficiency and greater stability of foreign DNA was observed when an absence of N⁶-methyladenine was coupled with methylation of cytosine residues in the dinucleotide CpG. However, Brough *et al.* (1992) have demonstrated that *in vitro* methylation of the tomato golden mosaic virus (TGMV) introduced into tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*) protoplasts resulted in a reduction in the amount of viral DNA accumulated in transfected protoplasts. They proposed that cytosine methylation interferes with the first round of replication of TGMV DNA in plant cells.

1.6 Summary

Despite many years of research the role of DNA methylation is not fully understood. In general DNA methylation is correlated with gene silencing in both plants and animals but it still remains to be established whether methylation of DNA initiates the inactivation of genes or is a secondary event which acts to maintain inactivation as demonstrated by Lock *et al.* (1987).

Mammalian DNA methylases have been purified from a number of sources and shown to carry out both *de novo* and maintenance methylation (Bestor *et al.*, 1988). However, very few plant DNA methylases have been purified.

1.7 Project aims

It has been suggested that methylation of CpG sites alone is necessary for gene inactivation in plants (Hershkovitz *et al.*, 1990). Therefore methylation of CpNpG sites might serve a different function. If this is the case then it is possible that plants may contain more than one DNA methylase. DNA methylase has been previously partially purified from the nuclei of pea shoot tips (Yesufu *et al.*, 1991). Only one species of enzyme was detected. The aim of this project was to extend this work by refining the purification procedure so that separate enzyme species could be identified. Synthetic DNA substrates which contain CpI (representing CpG)
dinucleotides or CpNpG trinucleotides were used to assess the enzymic activity of purified fractions as well as to investigate the substrate specificity of the enzyme(s).

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Fine chemicals

Acrylant de, El AlA, plyterol, M Noment vienebisacrylamida perchlorie acud, SCS und incluionecenic acud (MCA) were supplied by Endoratory Supplies (Fiscus), Loughborough, England, U.K.

Bovine serum albumit, popensize brilling blue R, stadion, house phenylmethylsgiphonylfluoride (PMSF), Tween 20 (polyoy orby'ter web, monohumue), salmon resis DNA, 3-[N-morpholiob/ippo; are subproved an (MOPS) and (poly di-dC1(priv di-dC) were supplied by North Character (Poole, Dorse CEncland, U.K.

CHAPTER 2

Materials and Methods

Methylcytosine phospheramidus der veitve was obtainen eine Prister Cerp. Herndon, V.A.

Dishiphreitol (OTT) and 14 polipticles ideas.

Heparia Segurators and Q Exploitors (1999) and the second se

123 be ladder DN - manale vis on such star Ciner BE

2.1 Materials

2.1.1 Fine chemicals

Acrylamide, EDTA, glycerol, N N'-methylenebisacrylamide, phenol, perchloric acid, SDS and trichloroacetic acid (TCA) were supplied by FSA Laboratory Supplies (Fisons), Loughborough, England, U.K.

Bovine serum albumin, coomassie brilliant blue R, ethidium bromide, phenylmethylsulphonylfluoride (PMSF), Tween 20 (polyoxyethylene sorbitan monolaurate), salmon testis DNA, 3-[N-morpholino] propane-sulphonic acid (MOPS) and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) were supplied by Sigma Chemical Co., Poole, Dorset, England, U.K.

Ammonium persulphate, 4-aminosalicylic acid, bromophenol blue, 8-hydroxyquinoline, mercaptoethanol, N N N'-N'-tetramethylene diamine (TEMED) and the phosphoramidite derivatives for oligonucleotide synthesis with the exception of the methylated cytosine derivative were supplied by BDH Chemicals, Poole, Dorset, England, U.K.

Methylcytosine phosphoramidite derivative was obtained from Glen Research Corp., Herndon, V.A..

Triton-X 100 and *m*-cresol were supplied by Koch-Light Laboratories Ltd, Colnbrook, England, U.K.

Dithiothreitol (DTT) and T4 polynucleotide kinase were supplied by Boehringer Mannheim, East Sussex, U.K.

Heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose fast flow were supplied by Pharmacia Ltd, Milton Keynes, England, U.K.

123 bp ladder DNA marker was obtained from Gibco BRL.

Peas (*Pisum sativum* var. Feltham First) were obtained from Booker Seeds, Sleaford, U.K.

Coir compost (ICI) was obtained from the local garden centre.

Detection liquids for Enhanced Chemiluminesence, hybond C⁺ extra and radiochemicals were obtained from Amersham International plc, Amersham, England, U.K.:

Radiochemicals:	Tritium TRK 236	15 Ci/mmole
	Tritium TRA 236	500 mCi/mmole

The above radiochemicals were mixed and diluted to give a specific activity of 4.6 mCi/ μ mole (1.1 μ Ci/10 μ l).

2.1.2 Buffer M+

MOPS (pH 7.0)	50 mM
EDTA	1 mM
DTT lying set buffer	1 mM
NaN3 Cl (oll 8.8)	0.01% (w/v)
glycerol	10% (v/v)
PMSF	0.06% (w/v)

2.1.3 SDS stop solution

SDS	1% (w/v)
butanol	5% (v/v)
EDTA	2 mM
p-amino salicylate	3% (w/v)
salmon sperm DNA	0.25 mg/ml
NaCl	0.125 M

2.1.4 SDS mix family more	
SDS	2% (w/v)
EDTA	4 mM
butanol	10% (v/v)
2.1.5 Phenol mix	

phenol	88% (v/v)
m-cresol	12% (v/v)
hydroxyquinoline	0.1% (w/v)

2.1.6 Bradford's reagent

Coomassie brilliant blue G	0.1 mg/ml
ethanol	4.75% (v/v)
phosphoric acid	8.5% (v/v)

2.1.7 SDS-PAGE buffers

Resolving	gel buffer	
Tris-HCl	(pH 8.8)	1.5 M
SDS		0.4% (w/v)

Stacking g	<u>el buffer</u>	or showing an
Tris–HCl	(pH 6.8)	0.5 M
SDS		0.4% (w/v)

2.1.8 SDS-PAGE electrode buffer (pH 8.3)

Fris	25 mM
glycine	191 mM
SDS	0.1% (w/v)

2.1.9 30% Acrylamide stock

acrylamide	30% (w/v)
NN'-methylenebisacrylamide	0.8% (w/v)

2.1.10 SDS-PAGE sample buffer

Tris-HCl (pH 6.8)	0.1875 M
glycerol	30% (v/v)
SDS	6% (w/v)
mercaptoethanol	15% (v/v)
bromophenol blue	0.1% (w/v)

2.1.11 Agarose gel sample buffer

SDS	1% (w/v)
glycerol	50% (v/v)
bromophenol blue	0.01% (w/v)

2.1.12 TBE buffer

Tris-HCl	(pH 8.3)	().9 M
boric acid		().9 M
EDTA		0.0	25 M

2.1.13 Oligonucleotide annealing buffer

Tris (pH 7.6)	67 mM
MgCl ₂	13 mM
DTT	6.7 mM
spermidine	1.3 mM
EDTA	1.3 mM

2.1.14 Phenol / chloroform

1:1 Phenol/choroform

Equal volumes of phenol and chloroform were mixed and 8-hydroxyquinoline was added to 0.1% (w/v). The mixture was equilibrated by extraction several times with TE buffer. The mixture was then stored under TE buffer in the dark.

E buffer	
Tris-HCL (pH 7.8)	10 mM
EDTA	1 mM

2.1.15 Phosphate buffered saline

Buffer A (pH 7.2)	
NaCl	0.17 M
KCI	3.35 mM
Na2HPO4	10 mM
KH2PO4	1.84 mM

Buffer B	
CaCl ₂ .6H ₂ O	6.8 mM

Buffer C

MgCl.6H₂O

4.9 mM

Buffers A, B and C were autoclaved separately and mixed in a ratio of 8:1:1 before use.

2.1.16 10X Imidazole buffer

Imidazole-HCl (pH 6.4)	100 mM
MgCl2 to ether of	180 mM
DTT	50 mM

2.1.17 10X T4 DNA ligase buffer

Tris-HCl (pH 6.4)	200 mM
MgCl ₂	50 mM
DTT	50 mM
BSA	500 µg/ml

2.1.18 10X S1 nuclease buffer

Na Acetate (pH 4.5)	5 M
NaCl	2 M
ZnSO4	10 mM
glycerol	5% (v/v)

2.1.19 Nitrocellulose transfer buffer

Tris (pH 7.2)	25 mM
glycine	0.19 M
SDS	0.02% (w/v)
methanol	20% (v/v)

2.1.20 Blotting buffer (TBS-T)

Tris–HCl (pH 7.6)	20 mM
NaCl	137 mM
Tween 20 (added just before use)	0.1% (v/v)

2.1.21 Stripping buffer

Tris-HCl (pH (6.7) 62.5 mM
mercaptoethanol	100 mM
SDS	2% (w/v)

2.1.22 2X SDS sample buffer

Tris-HCl (pH 6.8)	125 mM
mercaptoethanol	one are 10% (v/v)
glycerol	20% (v/v)
SDS	4% (w/v)

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Growing pea seedlings

Peas were washed, soaked for 3–4 hours and then planted in a closely packed monolayer into a garden tray (22 cm x 34 cm) containing an 1 inch deep layer of "coir compost". The pea seedlings were covered in a thin layer of coir and grown at 26°C under constant white light illumination. They were watered regularly with just sufficient water to keep them moist. The shoots were ready for harvesting after 5–6 days of growth. The 1.5–2.0 cm apical shoot tips were removed, weighed and stored at -20°C.

2.2.2 Preparation of pea nuclei

Pea nuclei were prepared as described by Yesufu *et al.*, 1991. All steps were carried out at 0-4°C. The pea apical shoot tips were homogenised in buffer M⁺

pH 7.0 (2.1.2) by grinding in a mortar (2.5 ml buffer per gram material). The homogenate was filtered though 6 layers of muslin and centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes, at 4°C in a Beckman bench top centrifuge, model GS-6R. The supernatant was removed. The pellet was resuspended in buffer M⁺ using a 5 ml syringe, filtered though 1 layer of muslin and centrifuged as before. The resulting pellet was resuspended in buffer M⁺ containing 1% Triton X–100 and left standing on ice for 20 minutes. This causes lysis of contaminating plastids in the nuclear suspension. The nuclei were centrifuged as before and continued to be washed in buffer M⁺ containing Triton X–100 until no longer green. The isolated nuclei were stored at -20°C in an equal volume of buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol.

2.2.3 Extraction of pea nuclei

2.2.3.1 Extract E1

The pea nuclei were stored in an equal volume of buffer M⁺ (2.1.2) containing 50% glycerol. The NaCl and glycerol concentrations were adjusted to 0.2 M and approximately 10% respectively by the addition of 0.4 M and 0.2 M NaCl in buffer M⁺ which contains no glycerol. The nuclei were mixed and left on ice for 30 minutes with occasional mixing. They were then centrifuged for 10 minutes, 3000 rpm at 4°C in a Beckman bench top centrifuge, model GS–6R. The resulting supernatant is referred to as E1. The salt extracted nuclei were resuspended in buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and were used for extract E2.

2.2.3.2 Extract E2

The salt extracted nuclei (2.2.3.1) were resuspended in buffer M⁺ (2.1.2) (800 μ l buffer per 200 μ l nuclear pellet) and then incubated with micrococcal nuclease (400 Units/ml) and CaCl₂ (1 mM) for 10 minutes at 37°C. The reaction

was stopped with EGTA (2 mM). The partially digested nuclei were reextracted with 0.2 M NaCl (1 ml per 200µl of nuclear pellet). The reaction mixture was left on ice for 30 minutes and then centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C in a Beckman bench top centrifuge, model GS–6R. The resulting supernatant is referred to as E2.

Extracts E1 and E2 were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol. After dialysis they were stored at -20°C with little loss of enzymic activity. If the extracts were to undergo purification procedures (2.2.13) they were not dialysed but used directly.

2.2.4 Assay for protein concentration

The protein concentrations in all samples were assayed by Bradford's method (Bradford, 1976). Bovine serum albumin was used as standard protein. BSA (0–50 μ g) was taken in 100 μ l of buffer M⁺ and 1 ml Bradford's Reagent (2.1.6) was added, mixed and allowed to stand for 5 minutes. The absorbance at 595 nm was measured in a Cecil 2000 UV Spectrophotometer and used to plot a standard curve. 10 μ l or 20 μ l samples of pea DNA methylase fractions were diluted to 100 μ l with buffer M⁺ and 1 ml Bradford's Reagent was added, mixed and left to stand for 5 minutes and the absorbance measured at 595 nm. The protein concentration was estimated from the standard curve.

2.2.5 SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis was performed according to the method of Laemmli (1970). A 8.75% resolving gel was prepared using 10 ml Resolving gel buffer (2.1.7), 11.7 ml 30% acrylamide stock (2.1.9), 18 ml dH₂O, 200 µl 10% ammonium persulphate and 50 µl TEMED which was added last. The

solution was mixed and poured into a pair of clamped gel plates. A thin layer of 1% SDS was layered onto the gel to allow it to set. A 6% stacking gel was prepared using 2.5 ml stacking gel buffer (2.1.7), 2.0 ml 30% acrylamide stock, 5.5 ml dH₂O, 150 µl 10% ammonium persulphate and 5 µl TEMED which again was added last. The layer of SDS was removed and the stacking gel mixed and poured on top of the resolving gel. The well–forming comb was inserted immediately and was removed as soon as the gel had polymerised. Samples were incubated with 0.5 volumes SDS–PAGE sample buffer (2.1.10) for 5 minutes in a boiling water bath and subjected to electrophoresis at 30–40 mA (<200 V). The electrode buffer was 25 mM Tris/glycine buffer (2.1.8) and protein markers (myosin 200 kDa, phosphorylase B 97.4 kDa, bovine serum albumin 69 kDa, ovalbumin 46 kDa, carbonic anhydrase 30 kDa, trypsin inhibitor 21.5 kDa and lysozyme 14.3 kDa) of known molecular weights were used. After electrophoresis the gel was either washed in 50% methanol overnight for silver staining (2.2.7) or was stained with Coomassie blue (2.2.8).

2.2.6 Agarose gel electrophoresis

A 1.5% agarose gel was prepared using 0.45 g agarose, 30 ml TBE buffer (2.1.12) and 1 μ l ethidium bromide (10 mg/ml). The well-forming comb was inserted immediately and was removed as soon as the gel had set sufficiently. Samples were incubated with 0.2 volumes agarose gel sample buffer (2.1.11) for 5 minutes at 60°C and subjected to electrophoresis at 50 V. The electrode buffer was 1 x TBE and a 123 bp ladder was used as a molecular weight marker.

2.2.7 Silver staining of protein gels

The gel was fixed in 50% methanol overnight before treatment with solution C.

This solution consisted of solution A (0.8 g of AgNO₃ in 4 ml dH₂O) added dropwise whilst vigorously stirring to solution B (21 ml of 0.36% NaOH with 1.4 ml 14.8 M NH₄OH) until the saturation point was reached. Solution C was made up to 100 ml with distilled H₂O and used immediately to wash the gel for 10–15 minutes with gentle agitation at room temperature. The gel was then washed for 1–2 hours in distilled H₂O, again with gentle agitation. It was then washed with solution D (2.5 ml of 1% citric acid and 0.25 ml of 38% formaldehyde), made up to 500 ml with distilled H₂O and used immediately. The bands developed within 10 minutes and the gel was photographed immediately using a Polaroid C-U5 camera or imager. Development was stopped by washing in H₂O and then in 50% methanol.

2.2.8 Coomassie brilliant blue R staining of protein gels

The gel was immersed in Coomassie stain [0.1% (w/v) Coomassie brilliant blue R in 50% (v/v) methanol and 10% (v/v) acetic acid] for 1 hour at 37°C. The excess dye was poured off and the gel immersed in destain (10% glacial acetic acid and 10% methanol) overnight at room temperature and photographed with a polaroid camera or imager.

2.2.9 Extraction of native pea DNA

Pea nuclei were prepared as described in section 2.2.1. Nuclei from 100 g peas were suspended in 3 ml phosphate buffered saline prepared as in section 2.1.15 and 3 ml SDS mix (2.1.4). They were then incubated with proteinase K (50 μ g/ml) for 1 hour at 37°C. An equal volume of phenol/chloroform (1:1) (2.1.14) was added to the nuclei. After gentle inversion, the mixture was centrifuged at 3000 rpm for 20 mins at room temperature in a Beckman bench top centrifuge, model TJ–6. The supernatant was removed and the nuclei were again treated with phenol/choroform, centrifuged and the supernatant removed. The DNA was precipitated with 2 volumes of absolute ethanol precooled to -20°C. The DNA was washed twice in 70% ethanol and left to air dry before being dissolved in 1 ml 50 mM KCl. DNA concentration was estimated by reading the absorbance at 260 nm.

2.2.10 DNA methylase assay

DNA methylase activity was assayed in a reaction mixture containing 10 µl S-adenosyl-L-[methyl-³H] methionine (1.1 µCi at 4.64 Ci/mmole), 5 µl BSA, 15 μ l buffer M⁺ (2.1.2) and 10 μ l appropriate DNA. The sample to be assayed was made up to 30 μ l with buffer M⁺ so that the final volume was 70 μ l. After incubation at 30°C for 2 hours the reaction was stopped by the addition of 500 µl of SDS stop solution (2.1.3). The DNA was recovered by incubating the reaction mixture with 100 µg proteinase K for 10 minutes at 37°C followed by vortexing with 300 µl Phenol Mix (2.1.5) and then centrifugation at 14000 rpm for 5 minutes in a microfuge at room temperature. The aqueous layer was removed and thoroughly mixed with 2 volumes of ethanol. The DNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 14000 rpm for 5 minutes in a microfuge, the ethanol poured off and the DNA pellets left to dry. The DNA was redissolved in 50 µl 0.3 M NaOH for 1-2 hours at 37°C and then spotted onto filter paper squares (Whatman 3MM, 2.5 cm²). The DNA was precipitated by washing 5 times with 5% TCA at 4°C for 10 minutes. The filters were then washed twice with ethanol and once with ether and dried under a stream of air before being transferred to scintillation vials. The DNA was solubilised in 500 µl of 0.5 M perchloric acid (PCA) at 60°C for 60 minutes. Ecoscint scintillation fluid (5 ml) was added to each vial and ³H incorporation counted on a LKB 1209 Rackbeta liquid scintillation counter. DNA methylase assay was performed according to the method of Turnbull and Adams (1976).

2.2.11 Oligonucleotide synthesis and annealing

Oligonucleotides were synthesized in the department of Biochemistry, University of Glasgow using an Applied Biosystems Machine. They were trinucleotide CpNpG oligonucleotides with the sequences (CAG)₇(CTG)₇ and (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ where mC indicates a methylated cytosine residue. Both oligonucleotides were 21 mers. Following deprotection and precipitation with 3 volumes absolute ethanol and one tenth volume 3 M ammonium acetate, the oligonucleotides were redissolved in annealing buffer (2.1.13) and stored at -20°C for future use. When required the oligonucleotides were mixed in equivalent amounts for annealing. This was done by heating the mixture at 88°C for 2 min, 65°C for 5 min, 37°C for 5 min and at room temperature for 5 min. The amount of DNA present was estimated by recording the absorbance at 260 nm. The concentration was adjusted accordingly to 1 mg/ml and the annealed oligonucleotides stored at -20°C.

Hemimethylated molecules containing the dinucleotide target sequence (polydldC).(poly dI-dC/dmC) synthesized by annealing oligonucleotides (poly dIdC).(poly dI-dC) and (poly dI-dC/dmC).(poly dI-dC/dmC) were found to be inactive as substrates for the pea DNA methylase (3.1.1) and so a substrate was made using *E. coli* DNA polymerase (Klenow fragment) by the method of Giordano (1991), except that DTT (1 mM) was present in the incubation. This hemimethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/dmC) was found to be an acceptable substrate (3.1.1).

2.2.12 Ligation of oligonucleotides

Synthetic oligonucleotides are synthesized without 5' phosphates. They were phosphorylated by end labelling using 'cold' ATP as follows: 14 µg of either hemior unmethylated CpNpG oligonucleotides were mixed with 80 µl 10 x imidazole

buffer (2.1.16), 200 μ l PEG, 75 μ l ATP (3 mM) and 1.2 units T4 polynucleotide kinase in a final volume of 380 μ l. The mixture was incubated at 37°C for 30 min, warmed to 45°C for 5 min and then put on ice to chill.

Once phosphorylated, the DNA was ligated as follows: 70 μ l 10 x T4 ligase buffer (2.1.17), 100 μ l ATP (3mM) and 7 units T4 ligase were added to the above mixture and incubated for 3 hours at 16°C. The mixture was then split into two equal portions. One portion was treated with S1 nuclease as follows: 31 μ l 10 x S1 nuclease buffer (2.1.18) and 400 units S1 nuclease were added and the mixture incubated at 37°C for 30 min.

Both ligated and ligated/S1 nuclease treated DNAs were recovered after phenol/choroform extraction (2.1.14). Extractions with phenol/chloroform were performed as follows: an approximately equal volume of phenol/chloroform was added to each of the DNA solutions to be extracted which were mixed and centrifuged for 5 min at 14000 rpm in a microfuge. The upper aqueous layer was transferred to a fresh tube and the DNA ethanol precipitated as follows: 3 M ammonium acetate (1/10 th volume of DNA solution) and 2 volumes cold absolute ethanol were added to the incubation mix and the DNA precipitated at -70°C for 2 hours. The DNA was pelleted by centrifugation at 14000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C in a microfuge and then washed twice in cold absolute ethanol, centrifuged as before and then left to dry at room temperature. The DNA pellet was redissolved in an appropriate volume of 50 mM KCl to give a DNA concentration of 0.1 mg/ml.

2.2.13 Purification of nuclear extracts. E1 and E2

2.2.13.1 Elution of methylase from O Sepharose

Q Sepharose was washed twice with 0.6 M NaCl in buffer M⁺ (2.1.2) and then twice with buffer M⁺ containing no NaCl. The Q Sepharose was then resuspended in buffer M⁺ producing a 25% suspension. This suspension was mixed with

various salt solutions of known concentration and an equal volume of E1 and E2 was added to each. These samples were mixed on ice for 20 min and centrifuged at 4°C, 13000 rpm for 5 min in a microfuge. The supernatants were dialysed and assayed for methylase activity as described in section 2.2.10.

2.2.13.2 Heparin Sepharose and O Sepharose

Heparin Sepharose was washed in buffer M⁺ (2.1 2) containing 0.2 M NaCl and mixed with nuclear extract (1.5 ml heparin Sepharose/mg protein) for 30 minutes on ice. The mixture was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3000 rpm at 4°C in a Beckman bench top centrifuge, model GS-6R. The supernatant was removed and saved for dialysis and assay. The heparin Sepharose pellet was resuspended in an appropriate volume of 0.2 M NaCl in buffer M⁺ and the column poured by gravity settling at 4°C. A 10 ml NaCl gradient (0.2–0.7 M) was applied to the column at 10 ml/h and 1 ml fractions were collected. The optical density of these fractions at 280 nm was recorded and fractions 3-6 pooled after previously establishing that they had the highest level of methylase activity. The NaCl concentration of this pool was estimated to be 0.45 M. This was adjusted to 0.15 M with buffer M⁺ as this had been found to be the required salt concentration for binding of the enzyme to Q Sepharose (4.3). At this stage a 1 ml sample of the diluted pool was set aside for dialysis and assay. The remainder of the pool was mixed with Q Sepharose (2 ml/ mg protein) and stirred on ice for 30 minutes. It was then centrifuged for 10 minutes at 3000 rpm at 4°C as before and the supernatant collected and saved for dialysis and assay. The Q Sepharose pellet was resuspended in a small volume of 0.15 M NaCl in buffer M⁺ and the column poured by gravity settling at 4°C. A 10 ml NaCl gradient (0.15–0.4 M) was applied to the column at 10 ml/h and 1 ml fractions collected. The optical densities of these fractions at

280 nm were recorded. All samples to be assayed were dialysed against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol. They were assayed as described in section 2.2.10.

2.2.13.3 Modification of method 2.2.13.2.

Heparin Sepharose was mixed with E1 for 30 min on ice and then centrifuged at 4000 rpm, 4°C for 10 min in a Beckman bench top centrifuge, model GS–6R. The supernatant was removed and saved for assay while the pellet was washed twice in 0.25 M NaCl in buffer M⁺ (2x vol E1) and was centrifuged as before. The supernatants were pooled and saved. The resulting pellet was washed twice in 0.7 M NaCl in buffer M⁺ (0.5x vol E1), centrifuged and the supernatant diluted so that the salt concentration was 0.15 M. This supernatant was then mixed with 1 ml Q Sepharose and the purification procedure continued as in 2.2.13.2.

2.2.15 Enhanced Chemiluminesence (EC.

2.2.13.4 Gel filtration and O Sepharose

A Superose 6 gel filtration column was cooled with iced water and equilibrated with buffer M⁺ containing 0.15 M NaCl for 2 hours. Extract E1 was prepared as described in section 2.2.3.1 and was concentrated using centricon tubes by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 10 min and then for 30 min at 4°C. The removed liquid was saved for dialysis and assay. The concentrated E1 sample (1–2 ml) was applied to the column which was eluted with buffer M⁺ containing 0.15 M NaCl. 2 ml fractions were collected on ice and their optical density at 280 nm recorded. A peak of optical density was observed. A 1 ml sample of each fraction forming this peak was saved for dialysis and assay. The remainder of these fractions were pooled and mixed with 1.5 ml Q Sepharose for 30 min on ice. The purification procedure was then continued as described in section 2.2.13.2 except that a NaCl gradient of 0.15–0.5 M was applied to the Q Sepharose column.

2.2.14 Transfer of proteins to nitrocellulose: Western Blotting

A sheet of nitrocellulose impregnated nylon membrane (Hybond C⁺ extra), cut to the same size as the gel, was soaked in transfer buffer (2.1.19) and placed on top of the gel which had been placed on a sheet of Whatman 3MM paper presoaked in transfer buffer. Care was taken to ensure there were no air bubbles between the gel and membrane. A second sheet of filter paper, again presoaked in transfer buffer was placed on top of the membrane and everything was sandwiched between two sponge pads soaked in transfer buffer and placed in a perspex cassette. The cassette was placed in a BioRad transblot tank filled with transfer buffer so that the nitrocellulose sheet was facing the cathode. The electrophoretic blotting was carried out at 40-60 mA overnight.

2.2.15 Enhanced Chemiluminesence (ECL)

Enhanced Chemiluminesence was carried out according to the manufacturers protocol. The electrophoretic blot was washed in blotting buffer containing 5% dried milk (2.1.20) for 1 hour with continuous shaking at room temperature to block non-specific binding to the membrane. The membrane was rinsed twice, then once for 15 minutes and then twice for 5 minutes with blotting buffer. The membrane was incubated with 5% normal goat serum and the primary antibody at a dilution of 1 in 2000 for 1 hour at room temperature and then washed with blotting buffer as before. The membrane was then incubated for 1 hour with 0.1% of the secondary antibody linked to horseradish peroxidase at room temperature and again washed with blotting buffer as above. The chemiluminesence was detected after the addition of an equal volume (final volume 0.125 ml/cm²) of detection liquids 1 and 2 supplied by Amersham. The membrane was washed for 1 minute in the detection liquids in the dark room, wrapped in clingfilm, exposed to hyperfilm–ECL for 10 seconds and the film developed. The exposure time can be varied as required.

3. I Sequence aperilicity

Plant 13NA methyladine deflers, frans that he define an ine fans ne trinucleotide OpNy () o y rar bylage 2 a sky as these mine fans This raises the protocol¹¹¹ is there enough that there is a reasonable encoin the following concerns in a only extract 1.12.2.2 is two used to a

sequence specificity using surfaces obgenueleopoos, as extract E2 (2.2) contains some endogenous unive pea Divin (4.2.3.). Extract E1 is a cruite a extract and should dierefore contain a India complement of unclear conversel.

CHAPTER 3 Characterisation of Pea DNA Methylase

Initiality (poly diedC) (poly diedC/mC) was made been a first of the term of term of the term of t

3.1 Sequence specificity

Plant DNA methylation differs from that found in mammals in that cytosines in the trinucleotide CpNpG are methylated as well as those in the dinucleotide CpG. This raises the possibility of there being more than one methylase enzyme.

In the following experiments only extract E1 (2.2.3.1) was used to study sequence specificity using synthetic oligonucleotides, as extract E2 (2.2.3.2) contains some endogenous native pea DNA (4.2.3). Extract E1 is a crude nuclear extract and should therefore contain a full complement of nuclear enzymes.

Enzyme affinity for CpNpG target sites was studied using the 21 mers (CAG)₇(CTG)₇ and (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇. A single stranded oligonucleotide (CAG)₇ was also studied. CpG target sites were represented by repeating (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/mC) sequences. In these oligonucleotides dG was replaced by dI as the bonding between a chain of (poly dG-dC).(poly dG-dC) is so strong as to prevent action of the methylase enzyme (Pfeifer and Drahovsky, 1986; Wells *et al.*, 1970). In all the oligonucleotides referred to, mC indicates a methylated cytosine and therefore the (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ duplex is hemimethylated. In this way both maintenance and *de novo* methylation can be investigated using the above oligonucleotides.

Initially (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/mC) was made by annealing oligonucleotides to (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) (section 2.2.11) but this resulted in low levels of methylation when used as a substrate. The accepting strands of the annealed oligonucleotides contain alternating CI residues while the 'template' strands contain either alternating mCG or mCI residues. This results in a high concentration of alternating methylcytosines and is thought to render the duplex resistant to the partial denaturation which appears to be necessary for enzyme interaction (Adams *et al.*, 1979). Alternatively, the presence of a methyl group in an alternating sequence may cause the DNA to assume a left handed helical conformation (Van Lier *et al.*, 1983), in which form it is less able to accept methyl groups (Smith *et al.*, 1991).

Therefore, (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/mC) was prepared by polymerase action (2.2.11). When made by this method it was found that (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/dmC) was a good substrate for the enzyme and it was therefore used to investigate substrate specificity of the methylase enzyme.

3.1.1 <u>Comparison of methylase activity with different DNA</u> substrates

Extract E1 was incubated with various substrate DNAs and assayed for methylase activity as described in section 2.2.10. High levels of methylase activity were observed with all synthetic oligonucleotide substrates when compared to pea DNA, with the exception of (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC), single stranded (CAG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/dmC) (annealing method) (Figure 3.1).

Single stranded (CAG)₇ DNA has been found to interfere with the methylation of duplex DNA. When both are present, only 27% of the activity obtained with double stranded DNA alone is recorded. It is possible that either the enzyme has a strong affinity for single stranded DNA, although it does not methylate it, or the single stranded DNA interacts with the hemimethylated duplex to form a structure that is not recognized by the enzyme.

In the case of CpNpG target DNA, with the hemimethylated substrate at least a two-fold increase in enzyme activity was observed, compared to that recorded with an unmethylated substrate. The highest level of enzymic activity overall was observed with the hemimethylated trinucleotide substrate. This and the unmethylated dinucleotide (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) were used to assay methylase activity so that maintenance and *de novo* methylation could be investigated as well as enzyme specificity for CpG and CpNpG target sites.

Figure 3.1



Extract E1 containing a total of 5 μ g protein was incubated with 1 μ g of the indicated substrate DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Each point represents the mean of two experiments.

3.1.2 <u>Methylation of oligonucleotides derived from the SV40 early</u> promoter

The oligonucleotides previously mentioned have all consisted of repeating units of either (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) representing CpG target sequences or repeating CpNpG sequences. Groups of CpGs do exist in nature in CpG islands (Bird, 1986) but not in the form of continuous repeats. Although these oligonucleotides can be used to some extent, to indicate the preferences and characteristics of the pea methylase, they do not accurately resemble native pea DNA which is richly hemimethylated at CpNpG target sites (Gruenbaum *et al.*, 1981; Navey-Many and Cedar, 1982; Nick *et al.*, 1986).

Oligonucleotides were constructed from the SV40 early promoter and were used to investigate the sequence specificity of methylase using substrates resembling more closely the enzyme substrate *in vivo*. All three of the SV40 promoter oligonucleotides are 22 mers (Table 3.1). The three oligonucleotides differ only in the extent of methylation. SV40 U/U is unmethylated while SV40 U/MG has one methylated CpG site and SV40 U/MNG two CpNpG sites methylated on one strand.

After incubation with crude extract, E1, as described in section 2.2.10, a two fold difference in the level of methylation was observed between the unmethylated and hemimethylated SV40 oligonucleotide substrates (Figure 3.2). The highest level of methylation was obtained with the hemimethylated oligonucleotides and no significant difference in the level of methylation was observed between the SV40 U/MG and SV40 U/MNG oligonucleotides. This is consistent with previous results that indicate that pea DNA methylase has a preference for hemimethylated over unmethylated DNA and uses both CpNpG and CpG target sites.

Table 3.1

SV40 oligonucleotide sequences

SV40 oligonucleotide	Sequence	
SV40 U/U	ATT CTC CGC CCC ATG GCT CAG T	
SV40 U/MNG	ATT CTC CGC CCC ATG GCT CAG	
SV40 U/MG	ATT CTC CGC CCC ATG GCT CAG T	

The sequence of the C-rich strand is given. The G-rich strand is complementary but unmethylated. \underline{C} indicates a methylated cytosine residue.

Exerct E1 containing a total of 124rd photoin where the be indicated SV40 of genuelepticity (NNAction 2 - and - b) presence of CVU SAM as melliplicance. A bio is subminactic from the value solution of Challen is a subFigure 3.2



Enzyme substrate

heen found to inhibit the methylation reasons with any reasons in the

Extract E1 containing a total of 12 μ g protein was incubated with 1 μ g of the indicated SV40 oligonucleotide DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. A blank value of 31.5 cpm was subtracted from the values obtained. The error bar represents one standard deviation.

nhibition of methylation of methylation of methylation protocial 1 1000000 (1990) II-dC) is inhibited after fillerin between the second state of t

3.2 Affinity of enzyme for target sites

It has been shown that the methylase enzyme methylates hemimethylated DNA to a greater extent than unmethylated DNA (3.1.1). The affinity of the enzyme for these different substrates was determined by incubating E1 with increasing concentrations of hemimethylated and unmethylated tri- or dinucleotide target DNA sequences as described in section 2.2.10.

Figure 3.3 shows that the pea DNA methylase is saturated at much lower concentrations of hemimethylated trinucleotide target DNA compared with the concentrations required for saturation with the other substrates. Nevertheless, Table 3.2 shows that for trinucleotide substrates at saturating amounts the rate of methylation of the hemi- and unmethylated substrate is similar and is greater than with dinucleotide target sequences, particularly (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC).

3.3 DNA / Enzyme binding

3.3.1 Effect of 0.1 M NaCl on enzymic activity

The addition of 0.1 M NaCl before a DNA–enzyme complex has formed has been found to inhibit the methylation reaction with native pea DNA (Yesufu *et al.*, 1991).

Figure 3.4 shows the effect of adding 0.1 M NaCl 10 min after the start of the incubation (2.2.10). Methylation of unmethylated (CAG)₇(CTG)₇ target DNA is found to be inhibited almost immediately after the addition of NaCl while there is no inhibition of methylation of hemimethylated (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ target DNA over the full incubation period of 120 min. Methylation of unmethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) is inhibited after 50 min following addition of NaCl while methylation of hemimethylated (poly dI-dC/dmC).(poly dI-dC/dmC) DNA only ceases after 90 min of incubation.

Figure 3.3



Extract E1 containing a total of 5 μ g protein was incubated for 2 hours at 30°C with the indicated amounts of hemi- and unmethylated di- and trinucleotide DNAs, in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor.

Table 3.2

V max and Km values of methylase enzyme with different

DNA substrates

DNA substrate	V max (pmoles/mg/hour)	Km (µg/ml)
(CAG)7(GTC)7	313	14.3
(CAG)7(GTmC)7	385	0.71
(poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC)	60	8.3
(poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC/dmC)	222	20

Specific activities (pmoles/mg/h) were calculated from dpm values assuming a value of 10% for recovery of DNA and efficiency in counting. (1 pmole = 10000 dpm). The protein concentration of each sample was determined as described in section 2.2.4.

Vmax and Km values were calculated from reciprocal plots of 1/V vs 1/[s] using the data obtained from figure 3.3 assuming Michaelis Menten kinetics.

Figure 3.4

Effect of 0.1 M NaCl on methylase activity

Kev

- - 0.1M NaCl
- o + 0.1M NaCl added at 10 min as indicated by the arrow.

Extract E1 containing a total of 5 μ g protein was incubated with the substrates indicated for 2 hours at 30°C. 10 min into the incubation, 0.1 M NaCl was added to the assay where indicated.

Figure 3.4 of fighting of algeometry description of the

Effect of 0.1 M NaCl on methylase activity



3.3.2 Effect of ligation of oligonucleotide substrates on enzyme activity

The oligonucleotides used to represent hemi- and unmethylated CpNpG target DNA are 21 mers. Those representing CpG residues are longer in length. To determine if methylase activity is affected by length of target DNA, hemi- and unmethylated CpNpG oligonucleotides were ligated using T4 polynucleotide kinase (2.2.12).

Figure 3.5 shows that the CpNpG oligonucleotides ligate into ladders of multiples of 21 bp as expected. After incubation with E1 for 2 hours (2.2.10) the level of methylation of the ligated hemimethylated CpNpG target DNA was about 40% greater then the unligated control (Figure 3.6). No difference in the level of methylation was observed on ligation of unmethylated CpNpG compared with the control.

Ligated DNA was also treated with S1 nuclease to remove any single stranded DNA. As the oligonucleotide duplexes consist of repeating units it is possible that the two strands would slide relative to each other therefore resulting in single stranded DNA at either end and single stranded nicks that had not been sealed by ligase. However, S1 nuclease treatment was shown to have no marked effect on the level of methylation.

Figure 3.5

Effect of ligation on CpNpG oligonucleotide DNA

87654321



Lane number:

1	123 bp DNA marker
3	Unligated hemimethylated DNA
4	Unligated unmethylated DNA
5	Ligated hemimethylated DNA

- 6 Ligated unmethylated DNA
- 7 Ligated and S1 nuclease treated hemimethylated DNA
- 8 Ligated and S1 nuclease treated unmethylated DNA

Figure 3.6



Enzyme substrate

Key:

HM: Hemimethylated CpNpG UM: Unmethylated CpNpG Lig.: Ligated

S1 nuc.:S1 nuclease treated

Extract E1 containing a total of 30 μ g protein was incubated for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor with 0.1 μ g of the substrates indicated

3.3.3 Effect of competition with hemi- or unmethylated DNA on levels of methylation

Results indicate that the methylase enzyme shows greater affinity for hemimethylated than unmethylated DNA and remains bound to it while searching for target sites. This model would predict that if unmethylated DNA was added to an assay system already containing hemimethylated DNA, the enzyme would remain bound to the hemimethylated DNA and not methylate the unmethylated DNA.

This prediction was investigated by incubating E1 with known concentrations of hemimethylated CpNpG DNA over 2 hours. The observed levels of methylation were compared with values obtained when a known concentration of either hemi- or unmethylated CpNpG DNA was added after 10 min of the incubation (2.2.10).

Figure 3.7 shows the level of methylation observed with 0.1 μ g and 0.04 μ g hemimethylated (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ DNA. It also shows the level of methylation obtained when 0.06 μ g of either hemimethylated or unmethylated DNA was added after 10 min.

The rate with 0.04 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ is less than with 0.1 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ confirming the results shown in Figure 3.3, that the lower amount of DNA is rate limiting. Increasing the amount of hemimethylated substrate from 0.04 μ g after 10 min increases the rate to that seen with 0.1 μ g indicating that there is free enzyme available to interact with the added DNA. As we have shown, this results in a tight and stable complex. No difference is observed on addition of unmethylated DNA. If the methylase enzyme had dissociated from the initial hemimethylated substrate and interacted to form a tight complex with the unmethylated DNA a decrease in the level of methylation would have been observed as unmethylated (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ has been shown to be a poor substrate compared to hemimethylated (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ DNA (Figure 3.1). Therefore, this result is consistent with the idea that once bound to hemimethylated CpNpG DNA the enzyme remains bound.

Figure 3.7



HM: Hemimethylated CpNpG UM: Unmethylated CpNpG

Extract E1 containing a total of 5 μ g protein was incubated with 0.1 and 0.04 μ g hemimethylated CpNpG DNA for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. After 10 min incubation, 0.06 μ g hemi- or unmethylated CpNpG DNA was added to an assay already containing 0.04 μ g hemimethylated CpNpG as indicated on the graph. A blank value of 156 cpm was subtracted from the values obtained.
3.4 Effect of temperature on enzyme activity

The pea DNA methylase enzyme has been shown to behave differently depending on whether hemimethylated or unmethylated CpG or CpNpG target sites are presented to it (3.3). This suggests a possibility of there being either more than one methylase enzyme, or one enzyme that exhibits differential activities with different substrates. This was investigated by comparing the level of methylation with CpG and CpNpG target DNA at different temperatures.

Temperature sensitivity was initially investigated by heating crude enzyme extract E1 (2.2.3.1) at 40°C over a time course of 30 min as described in section 2.2.10, except that 2 μ Ci ³H SAM was used in the incubation. This resulted in nearly a 100% decrease in the first 10 min of the preincubation in enzyme activity measured subsequently with hemimethylated trinucleotide target DNA. Therefore, in further experiments the preincubation temperature was lowered to 35°C.

With hemimethylated CpNpG as enzyme substrate, the amount of methylase activity was decreased by 68% in the first 10 min of preincubation and by about 90% after 30 min of preincubation (Figure 3.8). However, no significant decrease was observed in enzyme activity with unmethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) target DNA. It is possible that these observed results were not due to temperature sensitivity of methylase, but to changes in some other constituents of E1 e.g.nucleases. Therefore, the above experiment was repeated with partially purified fractions of the enzyme prepared by ion exchange chromatography as described in section 2.2.13.3.

As with E1, there was a significant difference found when activity was subsequently assayed with the two different substrates. With hemimethylated CpNpG there was a decrease of 80% in enzyme activity in the first 10 min of the preincubation and after 30 min of preincubation a fall of 89%. No change in activity was seen with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC). In these experiments the enzyme was preincubated in the absence of substrate (either DNA or SAM),

Figure 3.8

Whereas on incul



Effect of temperature on enzyme activity

- Hemimethylated (CAG)7(mCTG)7
- o Unmethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC)

Extract E1 containing a total of 6 μ g protein or partially purified enzyme containing 8 μ g protein were incubated at 35°C for 0–30 min. They were then incubated with 1 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ or 2 μ g (poly dI-dC).(poly dIdC) for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor whereas on incubation in the assay (in the presence of substrates) there is no loss of activity after 2 hours at 30°C (Figure 3.4).

3.5 Age of pea shoots on harvesting and DNA methylase activity

Pea nuclei extracted from pea shoots 4–6 days old have been shown to exhibit higher levels of methylation than nuclei from 9 day old peas (Yesufu *et al.*, 1991). This may be due to the nature of the DNA in the nuclei or to a change in the enzyme.

Extract E1 (2.2.3.1) was made from nuclei extracted from pea shoots harvested after 4, 5, 6, 7 and 12 days growth. These were assayed with hemimethylated (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and unmethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNAs as described in section 2.2.10. Figure 3.9 shows how methylase activity decreased with age of the pea shoots. However, activity with hemimethylated DNA decreased at a slower rate than did activity with unmethylated DNA. Activity with the hemimethylated substrate remained fairly constant from 4–6 days and then began to decrease so that at day 12 it was only 25% of the initial value. In contrast, activity with the unmethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) substrate fell dramatically between days 4 and 5 and then more slowly to day 12. Samples were not obtained from younger peas but it is possible that at days 2 or 3 the activity with the two substrates might be comparable.

Synthetic oligonucleotides were used to characterise the pea DNA methylase enzyme. Extract E1 was shown to contain a DNA methylase(s) that methylates both CpG and CpNpG sites with a preference for hemimethylated DNA. It would appear that the enzyme(s) has a higher affinity for DNA with a hemimethylated trinucleotide target sequence and forms a more stable complex with this substrate than with the other DNAs investigated. The different behaviour of the enzyme with DNAs with a hemimethylated CpNpG or unmethylated CpG target sequence on heat treatment suggests the possibility of there being two different enzymes. This will be discussed further in Chapter 4.

Figure 3.9



Age of pea shoots and DNA methylase activity

Extract E1 was prepared from nuclei extracted from peas harvested on different days as indicated. E1 (30 μ l) was then incubated with 1 μ g hemimethylated CpNpG and 2 μ g unmethylated (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNA for 2 hours at 30°C with [³H] SAM present as methyl donor.

4.1 Intreduction

Previous attempts to purify DNA methylate from per latent states at a (Yestify et al., 1991.). One peak of they mic activity was obtained by the states of on Superose 6 and by requested theory from DENE. Replaced at the states of the 0.2 M NaCl and 0.35 M NaCl respectively. This peak fraction was respectively to PAGE get and on silver stating a major band of 160 kThe was observe to the this protein was found to be unstable and to be degraded, when solvice to the second get electrophyses, which all hours.

In this chapter further procedures to purify the methylate environments described. The chiral frontions were assayed with a party decay of the a fill (CAC)₇(m&TO)₇ so that CpG, CpNpG, commentate and the material could be investigated.

CHAPTER 4

Partial Purification of DNA Methylase from Pea

4.2 DNA methylase activity of extrant

4.2.1 Effect of microcorval nucleus and have at the univity

E2 extract was prepared as in section 2.2.5.2 models of the section and the section 2.2.5.2 models of the section of the section 2.2.5.2 models of the section of the section 2.2.5.2 models of the section 2.2.5.2 mode

The E2 marate property following the second web web to the maratement of the second se

4.1 Introduction

Previous attempts to purify DNA methylase from pea have been carried out (Yesufu *et al.*, 1991). One peak of enzymic activity was obtained by gel filtration on Superose 6 and by sequential elution from DEAE–Sephacel and Mono Q with 0.2 M NaCl and 0.35 M NaCl respectively. This peak fraction was run on a SDS– PAGE gel and on silver staining a major band of 160 kDa was observed. However, this protein was found to be unstable and to be degraded when subjected to a second gel electrophoresis within 48 hours.

In this chapter further procedures to purify the methylase enzyme are described. The eluted fractions were assayed with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) and/or (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ so that CpG, CpNpG, maintenance and *de novo* methylation could be investigated.

4.2 DNA methylase activity of extract E2

4.2.1 Effect of micrococcal nuclease treatment on E2 activity

E2 extract was prepared as in section 2.2.3.2 except that the salt extracted nuclei sample was split and one half treated with 3.72 mM EGTA at the same time as 400 U/ml micrococcal nuclease, while EGTA was added after the nuclease digestion to the other half. Micrococcal nuclease requires Ca ²⁺ ions in order to be active. These ions are chelated by EGTA thereby rendering the micrococcal nuclease inactive. After 0.2 M NaCl treatment and dialysis the E2 extracts were assayed for methylase activity with or without hemimethylated (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA as described in section 2.2.10.

The E2 extract prepared from nuclei treated with inactive micrococcal nuclease exhibited low levels of enzymic activity regardless of whether substrate DNA was added to the assay system (Table 4.1). This shows that there is no

Table 4.1

Effect of micrococcal nuclease treatment on E2 DNA methylase activity

raction of a	DNA methylase activity (cpm) when micrococcal nuclease is:				
+/- DNA	Inactive		Active		
– DNA	55	79	822	750	
+ DNA	35	41	1252	1379	

Extract E2 was prepared from salt extracted nuclei that had been treated with either active or inactive micrococcal nuclease. The E2 samples were assayed for methylase activity using 1 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ as substrate DNA for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Duplicate results are given.

extractable methylase enzyme available. However, E2 prepared from nuclease digested nuclei was found to have methylase activity even when there was no synthetic substrate DNA present. This suggests that the methylase enzyme binds tightly to the nuclei and this nuclear DNA has to be partly digested in order to release the enzyme. It is clear however, that the methylase activity is solubilized along with DNA by this treatment.

4.2.2 Extraction of pea nuclei with 0.2 M NaCl and micrococcal nuclease

The optimum concentration of micrococcal nuclease required for digestion of nuclear DNA was determined by incubating salt extracted nuclei (2.2.3.1) with increasing concentrations of micrococcal nuclease and then preparing E2 as described in section 2.2.3.2.

Figure 4.1 shows that the native pea DNA was progressively digested with higher concentrations of micrococcal nuclease until at 400 U/ml no nucleosomal DNA was detected. The absence of DNA in the 0 U/ml sample was considered to be due to all the DNA pelleting during centrifugation. This did not occur in other samples because the DNA has been digested into smaller pieces.

All subsequent E2 preparations were carried out using 400 U/ml micrococcal nuclease. However, the possibility of the extract containing native pea DNA was investigated further.

10 µl of each much stands to some with the rate of a micrococcel muchanese and more extracted to get it. In DNA sample halfer and docurrant into 5 may at 400 C then fonded onto a 1.5% getting of and the at 500 c

Digestion of nuclei with an increasing concentration of micrococcal nuclease

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

Lane number

1 Marker

4.3 Flution of methylase In

- 2 E1
- 3 0 U/ml micrococcal nuclease
- 4 100 U/ml micrococcal nuclease
- 5 200 U/ml micrococcal nuclease
- 6 300 U/ml micrococcal nuclease
- 7 400 U/ml micrococcal nuclease
- 8 Salt extracted nuclei

10 μ l of each nuclei sample treated with the indicated concentrations of micrococcal nuclease and then extracted to give E2, was mixed with 2 μ l DNA sample buffer and incubated for 5 min at 60°C. The samples were then loaded onto a 1.5% agarose gel and run at 50V.

4.2.3 Contamination of E2 extract with native pea DNA

E1 (2.2.3.1) has been shown by agarose gel electrophoresis to contain no native pea DNA. When assayed with no added substrate DNA no measurable enzymic activity was observed. However, on addition of substrate DNA there was a large increase in methylase activity (Figure 4.2).

In comparison, extract E2 (2.2.3.2) has been shown to contain native pea DNA (Figure 4.2). When assayed with no added substrate DNA, enzymic activity was observed. Addition of substrate DNA to the E2 assay had little effect on the level of methyl transfer. It was considered that the enzyme binds tightly to the native pea DNA which is protected from nuclease action. Several methods to remove native pea DNA from E2 were attempted. These included treatment with DNase I, DEAE, ammonium sulphate, changes in pH and centrifugation on a sucrose cushion. All these methods were unsuccessful in recovering enzyme activity (results not shown).

4.3 Elution of methylase from O Sepharose

Extracts E1 and E2 were prepared as described in section 2.2.3 and pooled. They were then mixed with Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.1. DNA methylase was found to bind to Q Sepharose at salt concentrations below 0.15 M. At higher salt concentrations enzyme activity was found in the supernatants after mixing enzyme and Q Sepharose (Figure 4.3). Therefore, in all purification procedures where Q Sepharose was used, the enzyme was bound to the column material at 0.15 M NaCl and eluted with a NaCl gradient of 0.15-0.4 M. A gradient of 0.15–0.5 M was found to be too steep for sufficient separation of proteins (4.4.1).

Methylase activity of extracts E1 and E2 +/- substrate DNA



30 μ l of each extract was incubated with or without 1.4 μ g pea DNA for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor.

Elution of DNA methylase from O Sepharose with increasing

NaCl concentrations



[NaCl] M

250 μl Q Sepharose in a 25% suspension was mixed with an equal volume of E1/E2 at various salt concentrations as indicated. After centrifugation the supernatants from each sample were dialysed and assayed for methylase activity with pea DNA as enzyme substrate for 2 hours at 30°C. [³H] SAM was present as methyl donor.

min on ice with 10 parts built for a second se

4.4 Purification of extract E1

4.4.1 Gel filtration followed by treatment with O Sepharose

A Superose 6 gel filtration column and extract E1 were prepared as described in sections 2.2.13.4 and 2.2.3 respectively. Extract E1 was concentrated using Centricon tubes as described in section 2.2.13.4 and then loaded onto the column. The optical density of the fractions was recorded at 280 nm and those fractions with high optical density were pooled and treated with Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.4. The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column with a 0.15–0.5 M NaCl gradient, were dialysed overnight against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol at -20°C and assayed for methylase activity with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) substrate DNAs as described in section 2.2.10.

A peak in methylase activity was observed in fraction 5 with both substrates (Figure 4.4). No significant enzymic activity was recorded in the supernatant saved after centrifugation of the Q Sepharose/E1 mixture or the liquid removed during concentration of extract E1. However, it was considered that the purification procedure was inefficient in separating possibly different species of the enzyme. Therefore the procedure described in section 2.2.13.2 was adopted.

4.4.2 Elution of DNA methylase from a heparin Sepharose column

Heparin Sepharose was used to purify the DNA methylase enzyme as it is negatively charged and mimics DNA in that it binds to DNA binding proteins.

Extract E1 was prepared as described in section 2.2.3.1 and was mixed for 30 min on ice with 10 ml heparin Sepharose in buffer M⁺ containing 0.2 M NaCl. A column was prepared and a 40 ml 0.2–0.7 M NaCl gradient was applied as described in section 2.2.13.2. The 2 ml fractions collected were dialysed overnight against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol at -20°C before assay with

Constitution and

Figure 4.4



30µl of each sample was incubated with 0.1 µg (CAG)7(mCTG)7 or 1 µg (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) substrate DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Blank values of 48 and 30 cpm were subtracted from the values obtained with (CAG)7(mCTG)7 and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) respectively.

(CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs as described in section 2.2.10.

The greatest level of enzyme activity with either substrate DNAs was observed to occur in different fractions (Figure 4.5). With (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA the highest level of methylation was recorded in fraction 13 compared to fraction 12 when (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) was used as substrate.

Any DNA methylase that does not bind to heparin Sepharose after mixing with E1, is retained in the supernatant after centrifugation. This supernatant is referred to as the unbound heparin Sepharose fraction and was found to exhibit low levels of methylase activity (600 cpm) with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ as substrate and negligible activity (10 cpm) with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNA. This indicates that no significant amount of DNA methylase was being lost at this stage.

The fractions eluted from the heparin Sepharose column were run on a 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel as described in section 2.2.5. Of particular interest were bands that were visible in the enzymatically active fractions 11–15 (Figure 4.6, lanes 9–13). Bands of 112, 100, 90 and 56 kDa were observed in these fractions. Many resolved bands were visible on the gel indicating the need for further purification steps.

Elution of DNA methylase from a heparin Sepharose column with a 0.2–0.7 M NaCl gradient



20 μ l of each fraction eluted from a heparin sepharose column was incubated with 1 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA. 2 μ g (poly dIdC).(poly dI-dC) DNA was incubated with 35 μ l of each fraction. Incubation was for 2 hours at 30°C with [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Blank values of 54 and 61 cpm were subtracted from the values obtained with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) respectively.

Assays were carried out in duplicate with negligible error.

4.4.3 BLARDERENTING OF ADDALLA SCALARED ACTION

Figure 4.6

SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a heparin Sepharose column



incentration of fractions 3-6 gooled from a henarin Sepharose column 4

s estimated to be 0.45 M. Therefore this pool was clitted to 0.15 M -

 $30 \ \mu$ l of each fraction sample was mixed with $15 \ \mu$ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. They were then loaded onto a 1.5 mm thick 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel. The gel was run at 40 mA, 200 V and then silver stained.

a training of the second second

4.4.3 Standardization of heparin Sepharose column

Heparin Sepharose has been shown to separate DNA methylase from many other proteins in extract E1 (4.4.2). The procedure was standardized using 1 ml of heparin Sepharose and a 10 ml 0.2–0.7 M NaCl gradient and carried out using extract E1 (2.2.3.1) as described in section 2.2.13.2. The ten 1 ml fractions collected were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and assayed for methylase activity using hemimethylated trinucleotide DNA as substrate as described in section 2.2.10.

A sharp peak of methylase activity was observed in fractions 3–5 (Figure 4.7). Therefore, in all subsequent purification procedures using this method fractions 3–6 were pooled in order to retain as much methylase enzyme as possible before proceeding to the next purification step.

4.4.4 <u>Elution from a O Sepharose column following treatment with</u> <u>heparin Sepharose</u>

The optimum salt concentration for DNA methylase to bind to Q Sepharose fast flow has been previously found to be 0.15 M (section 4.3). The combined NaCl concentration of fractions 3–6 pooled from a heparin Sepharose column (4.4.3) was estimated to be 0.45 M. Therefore this pool was diluted to 0.15 M with buffer M⁺ (2.1.2) before mixing with Q Sepharose for 30 min on ice as described in section 2.2.13.2. A column was prepared and a NaCl gradient of 0.15–0.4 M applied. Previously a gradient of 0.15–0.5 M had been found to be too steep for sufficient separation (4.4.1). The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and then assayed for methylase activity using (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ or (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs (2.2.10).

Standardization of the procedure for elution of DNA methylase from a heparin Sepharose column



the second s

Extract P1 (2.2.3.) was treated in the beautin Section

30 μ l of each fraction eluted from a heparin Sepharose column was incubated with 1 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [3H] SAM as methyl donor. A blank value of 43 cpm was subtracted from the values obtained.

di-oC), spole of oC) as splanning the second second

Enzyme activity was observed to peak in different fractions depending on the substrate DNA (Figure 4.8). With hemimethylated trinucleotide DNA the highest level of methylation occurred in fraction 6 and remained relatively high in fraction number 7. In comparison, enzyme activity with unmethylated dinucleotide substrate DNA increased in fraction 4 to a peak in fraction 5.

The percentage yield of DNA methylase activity recorded with both substrates shows that less than one third of the total active enzyme present at the start of the purification procedure is recovered. With (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ as substrate there is a 31% yield compared to a 11% yield with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNA.

4.4.5 Purification of extract E1 by the modified method 2.2.13.3

Purification of DNA methylase by the method described in section 2.2.13.2 has been shown to result in a low recovery of enzymic activity (4.4.4). The Q Sepharose column was washed with 0.7 M NaCl after application of the NaCl gradient to determine if methylase was still bound to it. No significant enzymic activity was observed. Therefore it was considered that the significant loss of DNA methylase occurred during the treatment with heparin Sepharose and so the procedure with heparin Sepharose was modified as described in section 2.2.13.3.

Extract E1 (2.2.3.1) was treated with heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.3. The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and then assayed for methylase activity using (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs as described in section 2.2.10.

Methylase activity was observed over several tubes with the two substrates (Figure 4.9). This could be interpreted as 3 peaks of activity. With both (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNAs there was a broad peak of

Elution of DNA methylase from a O Sepharose column following treatment with heparin Sepharose



30 µl of each fraction eluted from the Q Sepharose column was incubated with 1 µg (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ or 2 µg (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Blank values of 55 and 43 cpm were subtracted from the values obtained with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) respectively.

Elution of DNA methylase from a O Sepharose column prepared by modified method 2.2.13.3



20 μ l of each fraction eluted from a Q Sepharose column were incubated with 1 μ g (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ or 2 μ g (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) substrate DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C with [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Blank values of 69 and 50 cpm were subtracted from the values obtained with (CAG)₇ (mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) respectively.

methylase activity observed over fractions 5, 6 and 7. However, with the unmethylated dinucleotide the highest level of methylation was observed in fraction 4.

Only 52% of the enzyme activity was recovered with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ as substrate DNA, while recovery with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) increased four fold to 43% compared to the value obtained in section 4.4.4. The specific activity and yield values are given in Table 4.2.

The Q Sepharose fractions were run on 8.75% SDS-PAGE gels and stained with coomassie brilliant blue as described in sections 2.2.5 and 2.2.8 respectively. A comparison of the bands observed in fractions 4 (lane 8) and 7 (lane 11) showed that both contained high molecular weight proteins of approximately 100, 141, 143 and 160 kDa in size (Figure 4.10) These were also found in fractions 5 and 6 but were very faint in fraction 3 (Figure 4.11) which has been to shown to exhibit low enzymic activity. Fraction 4 also contained proteins of approximately 35, 50 and 90 kDa which were only observed faintly if at all in fractions 5, 6 and 7 (Figures 4.10 and 4.11).

Table 4.2

Specific Activity and % yield of samples that have undergone

the procedure described in section 4.4.5

Sample	Specific A (U/mg	ctivity 3)	% Yield		
	(CAG)7(mCTG)7	(poly dI-dC). (poly dI-dC)	(CAG)7(mCTG)7	(poly dI-dC). (poly dI-dC)	
E1	382	5	100	100	
HSU	34	1	9.4	27	
EP	349	5	86	102	
QSU	5	3.5	0.9	47	
F 4	3333	78			
F 7	16667	112			
QS Pool	4630	37	54	33	

Key	
E1	Extract E1
HSU	Unbound heparin Sepharose fraction
EP	Enzyme pool from heparin Sepharose
QSU	Unbound Q Sepharose fraction
F4	Fraction number 4
F7	Fraction number 7
QS Pool	Specific activity or total yield of the Q Sepharose pool

SDS-PAGE gel (1.5 mm thick) of fractions eluted from a O Sepharose column prepared by modified method 2.2.13.3.



 $30 \ \mu$ l of each fraction sample was mixed with $15 \ \mu$ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were loaded onto a 1.5 mm thick 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel which was run at 40 mA, 200 V. The gel was then stained with coomassie brilliant blue.

SDS-PAGE gel (2 mm thick) of fractions eluted from a O Sepharose column prepared by modified method 2.2.13.3.



60 μ l of each fraction sample was mixed with 20 μ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were loaded onto a 2 mm thick 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel which was run at 40 mA, 200 V. The gel was then stained with coomassie brilliant blue. The fraction sample number is indicated. M=Marker.

4.4.5.1 Enhanced Chemiluminesence (ECL)

A duplicate gel to that shown in Figure 4.11 was Western blotted as described in section 2.2.14. The blot was probed with an antibody obtained from Dr. Follmann, to a wheat methylase protein 55 kDa in size and bands detected using enhanced chemiluminesence as described in section 2.2.15.

The antibody was observed to associate with several proteins (Figure 4.12). The strongest association was with a protein approximately 70 kDa in size in all four samples.

The antibody also reacted with high molecular weight bands in the range of 160–180 kDa and a doublet of 80–100 kDa. All of these bands were seen in fractions 3, 4, 5 and 6 but were of lower intensity in fraction 3. Only in fractions 4, 5 and 6 was a band of 112 kDa observed. This band increased in intensity in fractions 5 and 6. Wheat methylase antibody was obtained from Dr Follmann, Gesamthochschule

Kassel, Germany.

4.5 Purification of Extract E1 in the presence of benzamidine

In all previous sections, extract E1 was purified with PMSF (0.6 mg/ml) and EDTA (1 mM) as the protease inhibitors. It was considered that these alone might not be sufficient to prevent degradation of the methylase enzyme and so benzamidine (1 mM) was used in conjunction with PMSF. It was introduced at different stages in the purification procedure.

so all of each transmission of the second state of the all proves and bolled for Angle and an analysis of the second state of the second state SDS-PACIF actions Western blound and are via all an analysis of the second state protein. The sample more an amore is indiamad.

Autoradiograph of samples probed with an antibody to a 55 kDa wheat methylase protein



60 μ l of each fraction sample was mixed with 20 μ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were loaded onto a 2 mm thick 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel which was run at 40 mA, 200 V. The gel was then Western blotted and probed with an antibody to a 55 kDa wheat methylase protein. The sample fraction number is indicated.

4.5.1 Introduction of 1mM benzamidine before O Sepharose column

Extract E1 was prepared as described in section 2.2.3.1. It was mixed with heparin Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.3 except that a 0.5 M wash instead of a 0.7 M wash was carried out. The appropriate fraction was diluted from 0.5 M to 0.15 M with buffer M⁺ containing 1mM benzamidine. The diluted fraction was then mixed with Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.2. The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column were dialysed at -20°C overnight against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and then assayed for methylase activity in the presence of benzamidine using (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ as substrate DNA as described in section 2.2.10.

Two peaks of methylase activity were observed in fractions 5 and 7 (Figure 4.13). The highest level of methylation occurred in fraction 7 but there was a 20 fold decrease in the cpm value obtained compared to that for the same fraction in the purification of E1 in the absence of benzamidine (4.4.5). This suggests that benzamidine might inhibit DNA methylase activity in some way.

The fraction samples from the Q Sepharose column were run on two 8.75% acrylamide SDS-PAGE gels as described in section 2.2.5. One gel was stained with coomassie brilliant blue (2.2.8) and the other silver stained (2.2.7) as indicated. A strong band of approximately 180 kDa was observed in fraction 4 (Figure 4.14, lane 9) This band was seen to a lesser extent in fraction 5 (lane 10) along with two other bands of approximately 55 and 38 kDa. Fractions 7 (lane 12) was observed to contain 55 and 38 kDa bands. Figure 4.15 shows that 90, 63 and 50 kDa bands were also present in fractions 4, 5 and 6 and very faintly in fraction 7.

Elution of DNA methylase from O Sepharose in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine



30 µl of each fraction eluted from a Q Sepharose column was incubated with 1 µg (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. A blank value of 51 cpm was subtracted from the values obtained.

SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a O Sepharose column in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine



 $30 \ \mu$ l of each fraction sample was mixed with $15 \ \mu$ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were then loaded onto a 1.5 mm thick 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel and run at 40 mA, 200 V. The gel was then silver stained.

SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a O Sepharose column in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine



60 μ l of each fraction sample was mixed with 20 μ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were then loaded onto a 2 mm thick 8.75% SDS–PAGE gel and run at 40 mA, 200 V. The gel was then stained with coomassie brilliant blue. The sample fraction number is indicated. M=Marker.

4.5.2 Introduction of 1 mM benzamidine at the stage of E1

Pea nuclei were prepared as described in section 2.2.2 except that 1 mM benzamidine was present in all buffers. Extract E1 was prepared from these nuclei as described in section 2.2.3 and then treated with heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.3. At all stages 1 mM benzamidine was present. The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and then assayed, in the presence of benzamidine, for methylase activity using (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs as described in section 2.2.10.

Two peaks of methylase activity in fractions 5 and 8 were observed with both substrates (Figure 4.16). The highest level of methylation activity occurred in fraction 8 with both substrates. The percentage yield of active enzyme with each substrate was low. Only 20% of activity was recovered with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ DNA and as little as 11% with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate.

The samples were run on a 8.75% acrylamide SDS-PAGE gel as described in section 2.2.5. The gel was then silver stained as described in section 2.2.7. Many bands were visible on the gel (Figure 4.17). Comparison of active and less active fractions enabled certain bands of 50, 63, 70, 90, 100 and 160 kDa to be considered as possibly methylase or degraded fragments of the methylase enzyme.

Elution from O Sepharose of Extract E1 prepared in the



presence of 1 mM benzamidine

30 µl of each sample was incubated with 1 µg (CAG)7(mCTG)7 or 2 µg (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) substrate DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Blank values of 71 and 69 cpm were subtracted from the recorded values with (CAG)7(mCTG)7 and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) respectively.

SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from O Sepharose in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine following preparation of Extract E1 in the presence of 1 mM benzamidine



30 μ l of each fraction sample was mixed with 10 μ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were then loaded onto a 1.5mm thick 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel and run at 40 mA, 200V. The gel was then silver stained. Lanes 9 to 14 represent fractions 4 to 9 respectively

4.5.3 Possible inhibition of DNA methylase by benzamidine

The low levels of methylation recorded in the presence of benzamidine suggest that the DNA methylase is being inhibited by benzamidine. This was determined by incubating at 30°C, 0–10 mM benzamidine with 30 μ l of an active sample fraction which had undergone purification in the absence of benzamidine and then assaying for methylase activity as described in section 2.2.10.

No inhibition of the enzyme was observed. However, the sample used would have contained methylase that was already to some extent degraded. It was considered that benzamidine may inhibit not only the degradation of DNA methylase but also the activity of the non degraded enzyme while not affecting the activity of the degraded enzyme. This was investigated by treatment with trypsin in order to mimic the presumed degradation. Success would have been manifest as an increase in enzymic activity, however, a decrease in enzyme activity with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA was observed while there was no change with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNA (results not shown).

4.6 Purification of E2

Extract E2 (2.2.3.2) has been shown to contain native pea DNA (4.2.3). This DNA was shown to interfere with the assay system for DNA methylase with specific substrates. Attempts to remove it successfully and to retain enzymic activity failed (4.2.3). It was considered that the enzyme present in extract E2 might be more stable if mixed with extract E1 and therefore a mixture of extracts E1 and E2 or extract E2 alone were subjected to purification by affinity chromatography as described in section 2.2.13.2. This would determine if the presence of pea DNA affected the purification and if the DNA could be removed from extract E2 by this method.
4.6.1 Purification of a mixture of extracts E1 and E2

Extracts E1 and E2 were prepared as described in section 2.2.3. Equal volumes of E1 and E2 were treated with heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.2. The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and then assayed for methylase activity using (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs and with no DNA as described in section 2.2.10.

The highest level of methylation was obtained in fraction 6 for both substrates (Figure 4.18). However, the values recorded were lower than those obtained with equivalent concentrations of extract E1 especially with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNA. No enzyme activity was obtained when the Q Sepharose fractions were assayed in the absence of DNA, indicating that they contained no native pea DNA. The unbound Q Sepharose fraction was also found to contain no native pea DNA or active enzyme. However, significant levels of enzymic activity were observed in extract E2, the unbound heparin Sepharose fraction and the pool of fractions from the heparin Sepharose column when they were assayed with no added DNA indicating the presence of native pea DNA in these fractions. The Q Sepharose fractions were run on a 8.75% SDS–PAGE gel as described in section 2.2.5. This gel was silver stained (2.2.7) and revealed the presence of many bands (Figure 4.19). Comparison of active (fraction 6) and less active fractions indicated bands of 180–160, 100, 90 and 56 kDa as possibly being methylase or degraded fragments of the methylase enzyme.

With (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ DNA as substrate less than one third of the available methylase was recovered. This value fell to less than 3% with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNA. The enzyme specific activity values (U/mg) and % yields for the relevant samples are given in Table 4.3.

Figure 4.18





30 µl of fractions 4–11 was incubated with 1 µg $(CAG)_7(mCTG)_7$ or 2 µg (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) substrate DNAs for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. Blank values of 73 and 48 cpm were subtracted from the values obtained with $(CAG)_7(mCTG)_7$ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) respectively.

Figure 4.19

SDS-PAGE gel of fractions eluted from a O Sepharose column to which a mixture of extracts E1 and E2 were applied



30 μ l of each fraction sample was mixed with 15 μ l protein sample buffer and boiled for 5 min. The samples were then loaded onto a 1.5 mm 8.75% SDS-PAGE gel and run at 40 mA, 200 V. The gel was then silver stained. The sample fraction number is indicated.

Table 4.3

Specific Activity and % vield of samples that have undergone the procedure described in section 4.6.1.

Sample	Specific Activity (U/mg)		% Yields	
Extrac heparin Sc	(CAG)7(mCTG)7	(poly dI-dC). (poly dI-dC)	(CAG)7(mCTG)7	(poly dI-dC). (poly dI-dC)
E1	354	64	100	100
HSU	29	20	9.2 ¹	34
EP	91	oly dl 12	40 atomos	30
F6	850	9.7	12	0.7
QS Pool	370	4.9	31.3	2.3

substrate ONA (Figure 4.20.) but the value's obtained wave at least 16.1

than those recorded in section 4.5,3 where a maximize of F_{1} and $F_{2} \neq a$

Key		
E1	Extract E1	
HSU	Unbound heparin Sepharose fraction	
EP	Enzyme pool from heparin Sepharose	
F6	Fraction number 6	
QS Pool	Specific activity or total yield of the Q Sepharose pool	

4.6.2 Purification of extract E2 alone

Purification of a mixture of extracts E1 and E2 (section 4.6.1) showed that active enzyme not contaminated with native pea DNA can be recovered. It was not clear however, whether any E2 enzyme had been recovered as it was possible that the E2 bound to DNA was retained on the column. To determine what proportion of the activity recovered was from extract E1 or if any methylase enzyme was recovered from E2, the same purification procedure was carried out as described in section 2.2.13.2.

Extract E2 was prepared as described in section 2.2.3.2 and then treated with heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose as described in section 2.2.13.2. The 1 ml fractions eluted from the Q Sepharose column were dialysed overnight at -20°C against buffer M⁺ containing 50% glycerol and then assayed for methylase activity using (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs and with no DNA as described in section 2.2.10.

No methylase activity was observed with either (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) DNA or in the absence of added DNA. Methylation was observed with (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA (Figure 4.20) but the values obtained were at least 10 fold lower than those recorded in section 4.6.1 where a mixture of E1 and E2 was exposed to the same treatment. This suggests that the methylase activity observed when extracts E1 and E2 were purified together was recovered predominantly from extract E1.

4.7 Summers and Conclusions

Figure 4.20



The active fractions from Fraction number and the sector and States and

or bands could be identified, bands of 180-11(), 106-30, 117 and 7 is

30 µl of each fraction were incubated with 1 µg (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ substrate DNA for 2 hours at 30°C in the presence of [³H] SAM as methyl donor. A blank value of 50 cpm was deducted from each value.

night he a structural componish of the protein. The large environment tentified suggest depths, which of the enzyme. He waves, adding the enzyment due while preventing depresention was also found by the azymic addition

4.7 Summary and Conclusions

In concordance with previous findings (Yesufu *et al.*, 1991), one broad peak of methylase activity was obtained by gel filtration on Superose 6 with both (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs (4.4.1).

However, purification involving the elution with NaCl of extract E1 bound to heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose columns, revealed methylase activity in different fractions when assayed with the two different substrates (sections 4.4 2 and 4.4.4). Purification of extract E2 by this method proved unsuccessful.

On modification of the purification procedure, methylase activity was observed to occur in the same fraction with both substrates, but a secondary peak of activity was observed in a different fraction with (poly dI-dC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNA (4.4.5). The observation that methylase activity occurs in different fractions with different substrates suggests that there might be more than one methylase enzyme or that there are certain factors that enable different aspects of methylation to take place.

The active fractions from the various columns were run on SDS–PAGE gels and on staining several bands were observed. Although no definite methylase band or bands could be identified, bands of 180–160, 100–80, 112 and 70 kDa were found to occur in the active fractions investigated. They were also found to react with an antibody to a component of the wheat methylase enzyme (4.4.5.1). From these results, the 70 kDa band cannot be considered to be an active component of DNA methylase as it is found in an inactive fraction (Figure 4.12, fraction 3) but it might be a structural component of the protein. The large number of bands identified suggest degradation of the enzyme. However, addition of 1 mM benzamidine while preventing degradation was also found to result in a decrease in enzymic activity.

CHAPTER 5 Discussion In mice a single DNA methylase gene has been detected. This could indicate that methylation patterns at CpG sites are established and maintained by a single species of DNA methylase. However, three closely related forms of the enzyme have been detected in murine erythroleukemia (MEL) cells. It is possible that they are a result of specific alternative splicing of mRNA precursors but is thought they are due to post-translational proteolytic cleavage modification of the enzyme as no difference in the size of mRNA transcripts was observed (Bestor *et al.*, 1988). In plants the existence of CpNpG methylation and the suggestion that CpG and CpNpG methylation may serve different functions raises the possibility of there being more than one DNA methylase involved (Hershkovitz *et al.*, 1990).

DNA methylase is a nuclear protein which on salt treatment can be partially extracted resulting in a crude nuclear extract, E1. The remaining enzyme is tightly bound within the nuclei. Treatment with micrococcal nuclease was found to be required to partly digest the DNA to release the enzyme. However, the enzyme was still found to be associated with the pea DNA (Table 4.1). Attempts to remove this DNA by affinity chromatography proved unsuccessful as the DNA bound enzyme was retained on the Q Sepharose column (sections 4.6.1 and 4.6.2). Therefore, crude nuclear extract E1 was used as a source of the enzyme for purification and to investigate sequence specificity so as not to lose any species of the enzyme.

Extract E1 has been shown to contain a DNA methylase(s) that methylates both CpG and CpNpG sites. The highest level of methylation was observed with hemimethylated di– and trinucleotide DNAs compared to the corresponding unmethylated substrates (Figure 3.1). This preference for hemimethylated DNA was also demonstrated when extract E1 was incubated with oligonucleotides derived from the SV40 early promoter. A two fold difference in the level of methylation was observed between hemi– and unmethylated SV40 oligonucleotide substrates (Figure 3.2). Preferential methylation of hemimethylated DNA has been observed for mammalian DNA methyltransferases (Gruenbaum *et al.*, 1982). In bacteria, type I

methyltransferases prefer hemimethylated DNA but type II show no discrimination between hemi- and unmethylated DNA (Kelleher *et al.*, 1991).

It would appear that the pea DNA methylase enzyme interacts with a higher affinity with hemimethylated trinucleotide DNA than with the other DNA substrates (3.2). Low concentrations of hemimethylated DNA containing the trinucleotide target sequence are required to saturate the enzyme. However, at saturating DNA concentrations, the rate of methylation is similar with hemi– or unmethylated target sequences but greater with trinucleotide target sequences than with dinucleotide target DNA.

It has been proposed that DNA methyltransferases form a covalent complex with their target sequences (Santi et al., 1983). These DNA-enzyme complexes form only transiently and would be broken by reversal of the formation reaction due to hydrolysis or on the transfer of a methyl group from S-adenosyl methionine. Addition of 0.1 M NaCl 10 min after the start of the incubation has been found to inhibit the methylation reaction with native pea DNA (Yesufu et al., 1991) and with di- or trinucleotide synthetic DNAs. The exception is hemimethylated trinucleotide substrate DNA where the methylation reaction continues linearly for 120 min irrespective of the addition of NaCl (3.3.1). This may be because the DNA-enzyme complex formed with CpNpG DNA is more stable than the complexes formed with the other DNA substrates. It would appear that inhibition of the other DNA substrates following addition of NaCl depends on the length of the target DNA. Unmethylated CpNpG is a 21 mer and the methylation reaction is inhibited almost immediately after the addition of NaCl. The dinucleotide DNA substrates are longer, the unmethylated substrate being 100-1000 bp and the hemimethylated substrate being approximately 5000 bp in length. The methylation reaction with these substrates is inhibited after 50 and 90 min respectively following the addition of NaCl. Therefore the longer the DNA the longer it takes for the NaCl to have an effect.

This has led to the suggestion that on interaction of the enzyme with unmethylated trinucleotide and hemi- and unmethylated dinucleotide DNAs there is a rapid equilibrium between DNA and unbound, loosely bound and covalently bound enzyme. This results in the reaction being rapidly inhibited by salt which traps the reactants in an unbound form. However, with hemimethylated trinucleotide target DNA, the initial DNA-enzyme complex is more stable and hence more likely to be converted into the covalent complex than to dissociate. Consistent with this idea that once bound to hemimethylated CpNpG DNA the enzyme remains bound are the experiments on competition (3.3.3) and ligation of CpNpG DNA (3.3.2). The latter shows that on ligation of hemimethylated CpNpG DNA the level of methylation increases by 40% compared to the unligated control. No difference in the level of methylation was observed on ligation of unmethylated CpNpG DNA. The readiness of the enzyme to form a complex with hemimethylated CpNpG DNA compared to other DNA will have the effect in vivo of effectively maintaining the pattern of CpNpG methylation. CpNpG sites are known to be heavily methylated in plants (Gruenbaum et al., 1981; Navey-Many and Cedar, 1982; Nick et al., 1986).

The different behaviour of the enzyme depending on whether hemi– or unmethylated CpG or GpNpG target sites are presented to it suggests a possibility of there being more than one methylase enzyme. In concordance with previous findings (Yesufu *et al.*, 1991), attempts to purify the pea DNA methylase by gel filtration resulted in a broad peak of enzyme activity with both (CAG)₇(mCTG)₇ and (poly dIdC).(poly dI-dC) as substrate DNAs (Figure 4.4).

Affinity chromatography involving elution from heparin Sepharose and Q Sepharose revealed the peak of enzymic activity in different fractions when assayed with the two substrates (Figures 4.5; 4.8; 4.9). SDS–PAGE of such fractions eluted from a Q Sepharose column prepared by modified method 2.2.13.2 revealed many bands (Figures 4.10; 4.11). Comparison of bands observed in the active fractions showed that they all contained high molecular weight proteins ranging from 100–160 kDa. These bands were only faintly observed in fractions exhibiting low enzymic

activity. Additional low molecular weight proteins of 35, 50 and 90 kDa were observed in the fraction exhibiting the highest level of methylase activity with unmethylated dinucleotide DNA (Figure 4.11). However, it is not thought that they constitute an enzyme that is only specific for unmethylated DNA as enzymic activity with the unmethylated dinucleotide substrate was observed in all the active fractions.

Although no definite methylase band or bands could be identified, bands of 180– 160, 100–80, 112 and 70 kDa were found to react with an antibody to a component of the wheat methylase enzyme (Figure 4.12). However, the 70 kDa band was also observed in an inactive fraction (figure 4.12, fraction 3) and therefore cannot be considered to be an active component of DNA methylase. However, it might be a structural component of the protein.

The large number of bands identified suggest degradation of the enzyme through proteolysis which has been observed in mammalian DNA methylases (Adams *et al.*, 1986). Attempts to reduce proteolysis by including further protease inhibitors such as benzamidine in the purification led to loss of activity that could not be recovered by limited treatment with trypsin suggesting that the benzamidine may also be reacting with the methyltransferase.

No distinct bands are visible on SDS–PAGE gels between fractions exhibiting different levels of methylation with different substrates. This is consistent with there being only one pea DNA methylase enzyme. The relative activity with different substrates during purification might be due to changes in conformation of the enzyme. It is possible that such changes in conformation could result in the observed decrease in the level of methylation of hemimethylated DNA following heat treatment of extract E1 and purified fractions. No change in the level of methylation of unmethylated DNA was observed (figure 3.8). Conformational changes of the methylase enzyme could also explain the observed decrease in the level of methylated trinucleotide DNA than with unmethylated dinucleotide DNA over a period of 4–12 days. The relatively high level of methylation of unmethylated DNA at day 4 might indicate *de novo*

activity of the enzyme at early stages of development. This has been observed to occur in early mammalian embryo development (Monk *et al.*, 1987).

Very few DNA methylases have been purified from plant sources. The green alga *Ch. reinhardii*, wheat and rice methylases have all been purified and have been estimated to have a relative molecular mass of 50–58 kDa (Sano and Sager, 1980; Sano *et al.*, 1981; Theiss *et al.*, 1987; Giordano *et al.*, 1991). Therefore, these proteins are significantly smaller than any of those identified as possible candidates for pea DNA methylase. However, the wheat and green alga methylases are accompanied by smaller protein components of 35 and 22 kDa respectively suggesting degradation of a larger protein. Consistent with this idea is the fact that the rice enzyme is stimulated 50 fold by hemimethylated substrate DNA while methylation of unmethylated DNA is negligible (Giordano *et al.*, 1991). This suggests that either a component of the enzyme specific for methylation of unmethylated DNA has been removed or that a cofactor(s) required for *de novo* methylation has been removed during the purification procedure.

Biothes, Area Sol, 1: 5-157.

Adams, R.I. F., Levelon R.H., Mickinnon, R. and Bussell, A. (1999); 163, 194-198

Allams, R.L.P., and Line G. F. (1934) Nucleic Acids Res. 12, 51(1994) Adems, R.L.P., Cardonn, K., Rinaldi, A., Bryons, M., McGurvey,

- Bardon, B.M. (1986) Birchins, Biophys. Acta 868, 9-15

Adams, B.L.P., Davis, T., Rinsidi, A. and Eason, R. (1987) Eur. J. Biol. Co.

Admas, R.L.P. (1990) Blochem, J. 765, 309-323

CHAPTER 6 References

Barker, D., Schafer, M. and White, R. (1984) Cell 36. Usi (1996) Barnes, Fried Merinae, M.G. (1989) Trands Genal 5, (1996) Belangor, F.C. and Plepburn, A.G. (1996) J. Mol. Evol. 20, 24, 5 Beston, T.H. and Ingram, V.M. (1983) Proc. And (1997) (1997) 2540, 5953

Benon T., Launaum, R., Manufathalia, R. an, Jogram, M., 1972.

203. 5 6.447

Bestor, T.H. (1993) and an A. (1953) Plant Med. Buor H. . . Blancin, M.S., and Hann, A. (1953) Plant Med. Buor H. . . . Bhd, A.P., Degard, M.S., and Bernh, B.A. (1978) Cell 11, her-Burl, A.T. (1980) Andrew London, 321, 709-203.

Plant Playsul, 99, 4(19-2114

- Adams, R.L.P., McKay, E.L., Craig, L.M. and Burdon, R.H. (1979) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 561, 345-357
- Adams, R.L.P., Burdon, R.H., Mckinnon, K. and Rinaldi, A. (1983) FEBS Lett. 163, 194–198

Adams, R.L.P. and Eason, R. (1984) Nucleic Acids Res. 12, 5869-5877

- Adams, R.L.P., Gardiner, K., Rinaldi, A., Bryans, M., McGarvey, M. and Burdon, R.H. (1986) *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 868, 9–16
- Adams, R.L.P., Davis, T., Rinaldi, A. and Eason, R. (1987) Eur. J. Biochem. 165, 107–115

Adams, R.L.P. (1990) Biochem. J. 265, 309-320

Antequera, F. and Bird, A.P. (1988) Embo J. 7(8), 2295-2299

Antequera, F., Macleod, D. and Bird, A.P. (1989) Cell 58, 509-517

Antequerra, F., Boyes, J. and Bird, A. (1990) Cell 62, 503-514

Bakker, A. and Smith, D.W. (1989) J. Cell. Biochem. Suppl. 13D, 115

Ball, D.J., Gross, D.S. and Garrard, W.T. (1983) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.
80, 5490–5494

Barker, D., Schafer, M. and White, R. (1984) Cell 36, 131-138

Barras, F. and Marinus, M.G. (1989) Trends Genet. 5, 139-143

Belanger, F.C. and Hepburn, A.G. (1990) J. Mol. Evol. 30, 26-35

Bestor, T.H. and Ingram, V.M. (1983) Proc. Natl Acad Sci. U.S.A. 80,

5559-5563

Bestor, T., Laudano, A., Mattaliano, R. and Ingram, V. (1988) J. Mol. Biol. 203, 971–983

Bestor, T.H. (1992) Embo J. 11(7), 2611-2617

Bianchi, M.W. and Viotta, A. (1988) Plant Mol. Biol. 11, 203-214

Bird, A.P., Taggart, M.H. and Smith, B.A. (1979) Cell 17, 889-901

Bird, A.P. (1986) Nature (London) 321, 209-213

Bochardt, A., Hodal, L., Palmgren, G., Mattsson, O. and Okkels, F. T. (1992) *Plant Physiol.* 99, 409–414 Boudraa, M. and Perrin, P. (1987) Nucleic Acids Res. 15, 5729-5737

Boye, E. and Løbner-Olesen, A. (1990) Cell 62, 981-989

Boyes, J. and Bird, A.P. (1992) Embo J. 11(1), 327-333

Bradford, M.M. (1976) Anal. Biochem. 72, 248-254

Brough, C.L., Gardiner, W.E., Inamdar, N.M., Zhang, X-Y., Ehrlich, M. and

Bisaro, D.M. (1992) Plant Mol. Biol. 18, 703-712

Brown, T.C. and Jiricny, J. (1987) Cell 50, 945-950

Burdon, R.H. and Adams, R.L.P. (1969) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 174, 322-329

Burton, W.G., Grabowy, C.T. and Sager, R. (1979) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 76, 1390–1394

Campbell, J.L. and Kleckner, N. (1990) Cell 62, 967-979

Cedar, H. and Razin, A. (1990) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1049, 1-8

Chandler, V.L. and Walbot, V. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83, 1767–1771

Compère, S.J. and Palmiter, R.D. (1981) Cell 25, 233-240

Cooper, D.N. and Youssoufian, H. (1988) Hum. Genet. 78, 151-155

- Coulondre, C., Miller, J.H., Farabaugh, P.J. and Gilbert, W. (1978) Nature (London) 274, 775–780
- Devajyothi, C. and Brahmachari, V. (1992) Mol. and Cell. Biochem. 110,. 103–111

Doerfler, W. (1983) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 52, 93-124

Driscoll, D.J. and Migeon, B.R. (1990) Somat Cell. Mol. Genet. 16, 267-282

Dunn, D.B. and Smith, J.D. (1958) Biochem. J. 68, 627-636

Ehrlich, K.C., Cary, J.W. and Ehrlich, M. (1992) Gene 117, 169-178

Fedoroff, N.V. (1989) Cell 56, 181-191

Frank, D., Lichtenstein, M., Paroush, Z., Bergman, Y., Shani, M., Razin, A. and Cedar, H. (1990) Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 326, 241-251

Frank, D., Keshet, I., Shani, M., Levine, A. Razin, A. and Cedar, H. (1991) Nature (London) 351, 239–241 Giordano, M., Mattachini, M.E., Cella, R. and Pedrali-Noy, G. (1991) Biochem. Biophys. Res. Comm. 177(2), 711–719

Goldberg, R.B., Barker, S.J. and Perez-Grau, L. (1989) Cell 56, 149-160

Groudine, M., Eisenman, R. and Weintraub, J. (1981) Nature (London) 292, 311–317

Gruenbaum, Y., Naveh-Many, T., Cedar, H. and Razin, H. (1981) Nature (London) 292, 860-862

Gruenbaum, Y., Cedar, H. and Razin, A. (1982) *Nature (London)* **295**, 620–622 Gruissem, W. (1989) *Cell* **56**, 161–170

- Gunthert, U. and Trautner, T.A. <u>In Methylation of DNA. Current Topics in</u> <u>Microbiology and Immunology</u> (1984) **108**, pp.11–22, Trautner, T.A. (ed.) Springer, Berlin
- Haltman, S., Kenny, C., Berger, L. and Pratt, K. (1978) J. Bacteriol. 135, 1156–1167

Hepburn, A.G., Belanger, F.C. and Mattheis, J.R. (1987) Dev. Genet. 8, 475-493

- Hershkovitz, M., Greunbaum, Y., Zabal, N. and Loyter, A. (1989) *FEBS Lett.* 253, 167–172
- Hershkovitz, M., Gruenbaum, Y., Renbaum, P., Razin, A. and Loyter, A. (1990) Gene 94, 189–193
- Holler, M., Westin, G., Jiricny, J. and Schaffner, W. (1988) Genes Dev. 2, 1127–1135

Holliday, R. and Pugh, J.E. (1975) Science 187, 226-232

Holliday, R. (1987) Science 238, 163-170

Hotchkiss, R.D. (1948) J. Biol. Chem. 175, 315-332

Hsieh, C-L. and Lieber, M.R. (1992) Embo J. 11(1), 315-325

Hughes, M.J., Liang, H., Jiricny, J. and Jost, J.P. (1989) *Biochemistry* 28, 9137-9142 Bird, A.P. (1992) Cell 69, 905-914

Iguchi-Ariga, S.M.M. and Schaffner, W. (1989) Genes Dev. 3, 612–619 Inamdar, N.M., Ehrlich, K.C. and Ehrlich, M. (1991) Plant Mol. Biol. 17, 111-123

Jones, P.A. and Buckley, J.D. (1990) Adv. Cancer Res. 54, 1-23

Jones, P.A., Wolkowicz. M.J., Rideout, W.M., Gonzales, F.A., Marziasz, C.M., Coetzee, G.A. and Tapscott, S.J. (1990) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 6117–6121

Jones, P.A., Rideout, W.M., Shen, J.C., Spruck, C.H., Tsai, Y.C. (1992) BioEssays 14(1), 33-36

Kelleher, J.E., Daniel, A.S. and Murray, N.E. (1991) J. Mol. Biol. 221, 431-440

- Keshet, I., Lieman-Hurwitz, J. and Cedar, H. (1986) Cell 44, 535-545
- Klaas, M., John, M.C., Crowell, D.N. and Amasimo, R.M.(1989) *Plant Mol. Biol.* 12, 413–423
- Kobayashi, H., Ngernprasiritsiri, J. and Akazawa, T. (1990) Embo J. 9(2), 307–313
- Koeberl, D.D., Botteman, C.D.K., Ketterling, R.P., Bridge, P.J., Lillicrap, D.P. and Sommer, S.S. (1990) Am. J. Hum. Genet. 47, 202–282
- Kolsto, A.B., Kollias, G., Giguere, V., Isobe, K.I., Prydz, H. and Grosveld, F. (1986) Nucleic Acids Res. 14, 9667–9678
- Kovesdi, I., Reichel, R. and Nevins, J.R. (1987) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 84, 2180–2184
- Kricker, M.C., Drake, J.W. and Radman, M. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.
 89, 1075–1079

Kunnath, L. and Locker, J. (1983) Embo J. 2, 317-324

Laemmli, U.K. (1970) Nature (London) 227, 680-685

- Landoulsi, A., Malki, A., Kern, R., Kohiyama, M. and Hughes, P. (1990) Cell 63, 1053–1060
- Lewis, J.D., Meehan, R.R., Henzel, W.J., Maurer-Fogy, I., Jeppesen, P., Klein,F. and Bird, A.P. (1992) Cell 69, 905–914
- Linn, F., Heidmann, I., Saedler, H. and Meyer, P. (1990) Mol. Gen. Genet. 222, 329-336

Lock, L.F., Takagi, N. and Martin, G.R. (1987) Cell 48, 39-46

Loeb, L.A. and Kunkel, T.A. (1982) Annu. Rev. Biochem. 52, 429-457

Looney, M.C., Moran, L.S., Jack, W.E., Feenery, G.R., Benner, J.S., Slatko,

B.E. and Wilson, G.G. (1989) Gene 80, 193-208

Magill, J.M. and Magill, C.W. (1989) Dev. Genet. (N.Y.) 10, 63-69

Mandel, J.L. and Chambon, P. (1979) Nucleic Acids Res. 7, 2081-2103

Marano, M.R. and Carrillo, N. (1991) Plant Mol. Biol. 16, 11-19

Marinus, M.G. (1987) Annu. Rev. Genet. 21, 113-131

Martin, C., Prescott, A., Lister, C. and MacKay, S. (1989) Embo J. 8, 997-1004

Matzke, M.A., Primig, M., Trnovsky, J. and Matzke, A.J.M. (1989) *Embo J.* 8(3) 643–649

Matzke, M.A. and Matzke, A.J.M. (1991) Plant Mol. Biol. 16, 821-830

McGhee, J.D. and Ginder, G.D. (1979) Nature (London) 280, 419-420

- McKeon, C., Ohkubo, H., Pastan, I. and de Crombrugghe, B. (1982) Cell 29, 203–210
- Meehan, R.R., Lewis, L.D., Mckay, S., Kleiner, E. and Bird, A.P. (1989) Cell 58, 499–507

Meehan, R.R., Lewis, J.D. and Bird, A.P. (1992) Nucleic Acids Res. 20(19), 5085–5092

Messeguer, R., Ganal, M.W., Steffens, J.C., Tankslev, S.D. (1991) Plant Mol. Biol. 16, 753–770

Mohandas, T., Sparkes, R.S. and Shapiro, L.J. (1981) Science 211, 393-396

Monk, M., Boubelik, M. and Lehnert, S. (1987) Development 99, 371-382

Monk, M. (1990) Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 326, 299-312

Navey-Many, T. and Cedar, H. (1982) Mol. Cell. Biol. 2, 758-762

Ngernprasirtsiri, J., Kobayashi, H. and Akazawa, T. (1989) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86, 7919–7923

Nick, H., Bowen, B., Ferl, R.J. and Gilbert, W. (1986) *Nature (London)* **319**, 243–246

Ogden, G.B., Pratt, M.J. and Schaechter, M. (1988) Cell 54, 127-135

Ohta, N., Sato, N., Kawano, S and Kuroiwa, T. (1991) Plant Science 78, 33-42

Osterman, D.G., Dephillis, G.D., Wu, J.C., Matsuda, A. and Santi, D.V. (1988) Biochemistry 27, 5204-5210

Palmgren, G., Mattsson, O. and Okkels, F.T. (1991) Plant Physiol. 95, 174-178

Paroush, Z., Keshet, I., Yisraeli, J. and Cedar, H. (1991) Cell 63, 1229-1237

Pfeiffer, G.P., Grunwald, S., Boehm, T.L.J. and Drohovsky, D. (1983) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 140, 323-330

Pfeifer, G.P. and Drahovsky, D. (1986) FEBS Lett. 207(1), 75-78

- Pfeifer, G.P., Tanguay, R.L., Steigerwald, S.D. and Riggs, A.D. (1990) Genes Dev. 4, 1277-1287
- Pollack, Y., Kasir, J., Shemer, T., Metzger, S. and Syzf, M. (1984) *Nucleic Acids Res.* 12, 4811–4824

Razin, A. and Cedar, H. (1977) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 74, 2725-2728

Razin, A. and Riggs, A.D. (1980) Science 210, 604-610

- Razin, A., Feldmesser, E., Kafri, T. and Szyf, M. (1985) in <u>Biochemistry and</u>
 <u>biology of DNA methylation</u> pp 239–253, Cantoni, G.L. and Razin, A. (eds.),
 Alan R. Liss, Inc., New York, 239–253
- Razin, A., Szyf, M., Kafri, T., Roll, H., Giloh, H., Scarpa, S., Carotti, D. and Cantoni, G.L. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 83, 2827–2831
- Reik, W., Collick, A., Norris, M.L., Barton, S.C. and Surani, M.A. (1987) *Nature* (London) **328**, 248–251
- Rideout, W.M., Coetzee, G.A., Olumi, A.F. and Jones, P.A. (1990) Science 249, 1288–1290
- Ridley, M., Frith, C.D., Crow, T.J. and Conneally, P.M. (1988) J. Med. Genet. 25, 589–595

Riggs, A.D. (1975) Cytogenet. Cell Genet. 14, 9-25

Riggs, C.D. and Chrispeels, M.J. (1990) Plant Mol. Biol. 14, 629-632

Rogers, S.W. and Rogers, J.C. (1992) Plant Mol. Biol. 18, 945-961

Roy, P.H. and Weissbach, A. (1975) Nucleic Acids Res. 2, 1669-1684

Russell, D.W. and Zinder, N.D. (1987) Cell 50, 1071-1079

Sager, R. and Lane, D. (1972) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 69, 2410-2413

Saluz, H.P., Jiricny, J. and Jost, J.P. (1986) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A 83, 7167-7171

Saluz, H.P. and Jost, J.P. (1989) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 86, 2602-2606

Sano, H. and Sager, R. (1980) Eur. J. Biochem. 105, 471-480

Sano, H., Garbowy, C. and Sager, R. (1981) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 78, 3118-3122

Santi, D.V., Garrett, C.E. and Barr, P.J. (1983) Cell 33, 9-10

Sapienza, C., Peterson, A.C., Rossant, J. and Balling, R. (1987) Nature (London) 328, 251–254

Schwartz, D. and Dennis, E. (1986) Mol. Gen. Genet. 205, 476-482

Selker, E.U. (1990) Trends Biochem. 15, 103-107

Simon, D., Grunert, F., Acken, U., Doring, H.P. and Kroger, W. (1978) Nucleic Acids Res. 5, 2153–2167

Simpson, V.J., Johnson, T.E. and Hammen, R.F. (1986) *Nucleic Acids Res.* 14, 6711–6719

Smith, S.S. and Ratner, D.I. (1991) Biochem. J. 277, 273-275

- Smith, S.S., Kan, J.L.C., Baker, D.J., Kaplan, B.E. and Dembek, P. (1991) J. Mol. Biol. 217, 39–51
- Smith, S.S., Kaplan, B.E., Sowers, L.C. and Newman, E.M. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89,4744–4748

Sørensen, M.B. (1992) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89,4119-4123

Spena, A., Viotti, A. and Pirrotta, V. (1983) J. Mol.Biol. 169, 799-811

Sugisaki, H., Kita, K. and Takanami, M. (1989) J. Biol. Chem. 264(10),

5757-5761

Sullivan, C.H. and Grainger, R.M. (1986) *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A* . 83, 329–333

Surani, M.A., Allen, N.D., Barton, S.C., Fundele, R., Howlett, S.K., Norris,

M.L. and Reik, W. (1990) Phil. Trans. Soc. Lond. B 326, 313-327

Sussex, I.M. (1989) Cell 56, 225-229

Sved, J. and Bird, A. (1990) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 4692-4696

Swain, J.L., Stewart, T.A. and Leder, P. (1987) Cell 50, 718-727

- Szyf, M., Eliasson, L., Mann, V., Klein, G. and Razin, A. (1985) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 82, 8090–8094
- Szyf, M., Tanigawa, G. and McCarthy, Jr. P.L. (1990) Mol. Cell. Biol. 10, 4396–4400

Szyf, M. (1991) Biochem. Cell Biol. 69, 764-767

Taylor, S.M. and Jones, P.A. (1979) Cell 17, 771-779

Tazi, J. and Bird, A.P. (1990) Cell 60, 909-920

Theiss, G. Schleicher, R., Schimpff-Weiland, G. and Follmann, H. (1987) Eur, J. Biochem. 167, 89–96

Tomas, R., Vera, A. Martin, M. and Sabater, B. (1992) Plant Science 85, 71-77

Tomaszewski, M., Dobrzanska, M., Gozdzicka-Jokeflak, A., Materny, M. and Buchowkz, J. (1991) *Plant Science* **73**, 175–179

Turnbull, J.F. and Adams, R.L.P. (1976) Nucleic Acids Res. 3, 677-695

Van Lier, J.J.C., Smits, M.T. and Buck, H.M. (1983) Eur. J. Biochem. 132, 55–62

van der Ploeg, L.H.T. and Flavell, R.A. (1980) Cell 19, 947-958

Vanyushin, B.F., Aleksandrushkina, N.I. and Kirnos, M.D. (1988) FEBS Lett. 223, 397–399

Vera, A., Tomas, R., Martin, M. and Sabater, B. (1990) Plant Science 72, 63-67

Waalaijk, C. and Flavell, R.A. (1978) Nucleic Acids Res. 5, 3231-3236

Wagner, I and Capesius, I. (1981) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 654, 52-56

Watson, J.C., Kaufman, L.S. and Thompson, W.F. (1987) J. Mol. Biol. 193, 15–26

Watt, F. and Molloy, P.L. (1988) Genes Dev. 2, 1136-1143

Weber, H. and Graessmann, A. (1989) FEBS Lett. 253, 163-166

- Weber, H., Ziechmann, C. and Graessmann, A. (1990) *Embo J.* 9(13), 4409–4415
- Wells, R.D., Larson, J.E., Grant, R.C., Shortle, B.E. and Cantor, C.R. (1970) J. Mol. Biol. 54, 465–497

Wiebauer, K. and Jiricny, J. (1989) Nature (London) 339, 234-236

Wigler, M., Levy, D. and Perucho, M. (1981) Cell 24, 33-40

Wilson, G.G. and Murray, N.E. (1991) Annu. Rev. Genet. 25, 585-627

Wise, T.L. and Harris, M. (1988) Somatic Cell Mol. Genet. 14, 567-581

Wu, J.C. and Santi, D.V. (1987) J. Biol. Chem. 262, 4778-4786

Wyatt, G.R. (1951) Biochem. J. 48, 581-584

Yesufu, H.M.I., Hanley, A., Rinaldi, A. and Adams, R.L.P. (1991) *Biochem. J.* 273, 469–475

Yisraeli, J., Adelstein, R.S., Melloul, D., Nudel, U., Yaffe, D. and Cedar, H. (1986) Cell 46,409–416

Yisraeli, J., Frank, D., Razin, A. and Cedar, H. (1988) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 85, 4638–4642

